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Kōrero whakataki a te koromatua me te tūmuaki   

E ngā iwi, e ngā karangataha, te iti me te rahi, tēnā koutou, tēnā tātou.  

The year to 30 June 2024 has been another busy and challenging time for Masterton  
District Council.  

Much of what we undertook during the year was carried out within the context of tight 
economic conditions, with parts of the District also still dealing with recovering from the impacts 
of adverse weather events, including those of Cyclones Hale and Gabrielle in early 2023.  

To that point, the Council has been active in supporting residents and communities impacted 
by the weather events, which caused significant property and infrastructure damage to eastern 
and coastal parts of our district in early 2023.   

Ongoing recovery efforts have been coordinated by the Wairarapa Recovery Office, which was 
established to work across the three district councils in the region and in collaboration with 
government agencies, iwi, and rural sector and community organisations.    

Following a public consultation, the Council voted in December 2023 to enter the 
Government’s Future of Severely Affected Locations (FOSAL) voluntary buy-out programme for 
properties severely impacted by the cyclones.    

This programme will see the Government and the Council each contribute 50 per cent of 
the agreed cost of buying out properties after insurance and any other payments have been 
deducted. At the time of this report, implementation of this programme is well underway and is 
due for completion by 30 June 2025.   

A consistent message we hear from our community is a desire to deliver the basics – roads, 
drinking water, wastewater, stormwater. That has been a huge focus for our Council. 

Over the past 12 months we renewed 3.74km of water mains and replaced or relined 4.3km of 
sewer mains. 

In the roading space, our network of 812km of roads has been maintained in the face of 
ongoing pressure from the weather and the economy. As you will read in this report, we’ve 
adopted some innovative new approaches to land stabilisation with good results.  

We’ve resealed 31km of roads and applied 12,000 tonnes of gravel to unsealed roads. We’ve 
also resurfaced 4.9km of sealed footpath.   

In other business-as-usual activity we processed 541 building consents and completed the first 
full round of swimming pool inspections, and just over 6100 dogs were registered. 

In June we made publicly available an independent report into wastewater overflows, which 
have affected properties in the Cockburn Street area at times of high rainfall.  

The installation of 21 non-return valves and 13 tanks on properties has been effective for the 
worst affected properties but was only the start of work.  

KŌRERO WHAKATAKI A TE KOROMATUA
MAYOR’S FOREWORD



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 8 

  

3

We have implemented the recommendation of the report, to make this area a pilot study for 
identifying the source of stormwater entering the wastewater system and eliminating it, so that 
the sewers operate as designed. 

Central Government initiatives have kept us busy, with the previous Government’s Three 
Waters Reform programme being repealed and replaced with Local Water Done Well – 
requiring councils across New Zealand to plan for a new delivery mode of water services. This 
work continues into the new financial year. 

The Council has consulted on and implemented a revised Revenue and Financing policy, it has 
reviewed levels of service for all activities, updated asset management plans and developed a 
2024-34 Long Term Plan that was also consulted with our community. These documents form 
the basis of everything we do.  The work that goes into these democratic and consultative 
processes should not be underestimated and I commend the councillors, iwi reps and staff who 
have worked together brilliantly to provide our community with a sound plan to put into action. 

The Council’s financial performance has again been sound despite the challenging economic 
environment with escalating cost pressures.  We achieved an operating surplus of $10.02 
million, generated by revenue received to fund capital and renewal projects. The impact 
of the 2023 weather events recovery can be seen in the operating expenditure (excluding 
depreciation and other losses) at $50.9 million or 12.6 per cent more than planned. Much of 
this relates to cyclone recovery work that was planned as capital expenditure, but ended up 
as operating. Operating revenue (excluding vested assets and other gains) was $79.1 million, 
4.7 per cent less than the planned level due to less roading subsidies on less cyclone recovery 
work than planned. Total capital expenditure (excluding vested assets) was $30.5 million 
against the planned total of $49.6 million - some 61.5 per cent spent (last year 70.8 per cent). 
Progress was made on several major projects, in particular the roading renewal and recovery 
work, the animal shelter contract was let and the airport runway widening contract was partly 
completed, but on hold through the winter months. 

It has been another busy and successful year for the Council which included developing, 
consulting on and adopting an LTP, delivering multiple projects and services and the continued 
prudent financial management of this key community-owned organisation.  

Thank you for working with us. 

Gary Caffell 
Mayor
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TE PĀNUI I TĒNEI RĪPOATA
READING THIS REPORT

This Annual Report tells our community how we have performed against the goals we set in the 
2023/24 Annual Plan (Year 3 of our 2021-31 Long-Term Plan).

Reporting back to you on our performance is part of the Council planning and reporting  
cycle and one of the ways we uphold our commitment of accountability and transparency to 
our community. 

Here’s a reminder of how our planning and reporting cycles fit together. 

	y Long-Term Plan: Every three years we produce a Long-Term Plan (LTP). This sets out what 
we intend to do over the next 10 years to work towards our long-term vision and community 
outcomes. It includes what services and projects we’ll deliver, how much they will cost and 
how we’ll pay for it, along with how we’ll measure our performance.

	y Annual Plan: In the two years following the LTP, we develop an Annual Plan. This details the 
work programme and budget for the year ahead and will - generally align closely with Years 2 
and 3 of the current LTP.

	y Annual Report: At the end of every year, we produce an Annual Report like this one. In this 
document we report back on our progress against what we said we would do.    

Annual 
Report

Annual 
Report

Annual 
Report

Year one
Long-Term 

Plan

Year two
Annual Plan

Year three
Annual Plan

We are 
here
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This report is divided into four main sections:

Section 1: Our People – Our Place – Our Future

In this section we’ll cover information about our community and Council, how we’re working 
with our key partners, and share our long-term vision and community outcomes.

Section 2: Our year at a glance

In this section we’ll give you a high-level overview of how we have performed, and how our 
finances have stacked up.

Section 3: Our performance in detail

In this section we provide detailed information about the performance of each of our activities, 
along with a few stories about our work in the community. We’ll also provide actual spending 
compared to our budgets for each activity.

Section 4:  Our finances

This section is dedicated to detailed financial information for the year 2023/24.
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TĀNGATA WĀHI ANAMATA
OUR PEOPLE – OUR PLACE 
– OUR FUTURE

Our people
Our community
About 29,000 people live in the Masterton District. Our population increased by 370 in the year 
to June 2023. Our base population declined by 401, which was off-set by 270 people moving to 
Masterton from within New Zealand2 and 140 from overseas3.  

Our population is older than other regions with a median age of 42.7 (compared to 38.1 in the 
rest of New Zealand). Nearly a quarter (22.7 per cent) of our residents are over 65 years of age 
(compared to 16.5 per cent for the rest of New Zealand). 

We have a higher proportion of residents who identify as Māori compared to the rest of New 
Zealand (22.6 per cent cf. 17.8 per cent).

Employment data for the year to June 2024, puts our average unemployment rate at 3.1 per 
cent, lower than New Zealand at 4.2 per cent for the same period. 

1 Natural increase: Births minus deaths.
2 Internal net migration: The number of arrivals from other areas in New Zealand minus the number of departures.
3 International net migration: The number of arrivals from outside of New Zealand minus the number of departures.
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Your Council
Masterton District Council has a Mayor 
and eight Councillors. These positions are 
elected within the Masterton Whakaoriori 
General Ward, Masterton Whakaoriori 
Māori Ward, and at-large, every three 
years. Responsibility for Council activities 
sit with the Mayor and Councillors.

The Council makes decisions about the 
range of services and activities that will  
be provided for our community, and then 
the staff are tasked with delivering these. 
In delivering for our community, the  
Council has to operate within the laws, 
regulations and requirements that are set 
by Central Government.

Your current Council
Mayor:	 Gary Caffell

Deputy Mayor:	 Bex Johnson

Whakaoriori Masterton  
Māori Ward Councillor:	 Marama Tuuta

Whakaoriori Masterton  
General Ward Councillors: 

	y Craig Bowyer

	y Tim Nelson

	y Tom Hullena

At Large Councillors:

	y Stella Lennox

	y David Holmes

	y Brent Goodwin

From left to right: Brent Goodwin, Marama Tuuta, David Holmes, Gary Caffell, Tim Nelson, Bex Johnson, Tom Hullena,  
Stella Lennox, Craig Bowyer
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Relationships with mana whenua 
The Council is committed to strengthening 
relationships between the Council and 
mana whenua and providing opportunities 
for greater participation in Council  
decision-making that go beyond minimum 
legislative requirements. 

In 2023/24, the Council continued working  
with mana whenua to advance our 
cultural competency framework. We also 
recognised the necessity to reconfirm our 
relationships with Rangitāne o Wairarapa 
and Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa.

 

4 Excerpt from Masterton | People+Places (peopleandplaces.nz)
5 Street Stories - Why we name things - Street Stories (street-stories.nz)
6 Masterton named New Zealand’s most beautiful city | Stuff

Our place
From a high peak of the Remutaka Range centuries ago, Haunui-a-nanaia, the grandson of the 
famous Māori voyager Kupe, gazed across forest, grassland, rivers and lakes of a wide fertile 
valley. When he looked towards a lake he was sitting across from, the reflection of the sun 
caught his eyes and made them water. It was this incident that led to the name of this region 
being Wairarapa which translates as ‘Glistening Waters’4. 

Whakaoriori, the original name related to our district, is in reference to the melodious birdsong 
in the region, which was said to be so soothing that mothers did not need to sing lullabies or 
oriori to their children5.

Whakaoriori/Masterton is situated on the banks of the Waingawa and Waipoua Rivers - 100 
kilometres north-east of Wellington. 

Masterton was founded by the Small Farms Association in 1854. It aimed to settle working 
people in villages and on the land.

Today Masterton is Wairarapa’s largest town and previously named New Zealand’s most 
beautiful city6.

The town is known for its strong farming community and agricultural heritage. Surrounded by 
rolling hills and lush pastures, it serves as a hub for sheep and dairy farming. Just a short drive 
away along the rugged coastlines are the stunning beaches of Castlepoint and Riversdale. 
The region is also famous for its vineyards, producing some of New Zealand’s finest wines. 
Masterton is home to several iconic events and attractions, including the Golden Shears, a 
world-famous sheep-shearing competition that celebrates the town’s agricultural roots. The 
Wings Over Wairarapa air show brings aviation enthusiasts together for a spectacular display of 
aircraft, while Aratoi Museum of Art and History showcases the region’s cultural and historical 
treasures, making Masterton a unique blend of rural charm and lively community spirit. 
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Our history: Prominent people that made our place

Retimana Te Korou, son of Te Raku and Te Kai from both Rangitane and Ngati Kahungunu of Wairarapa is a 
prominent figure in Masterton’s history. Born in the late 18th Century, Te Korou and his family were among 
those who were forced to flee from Wairarapa to Nukutaurua, on Mahia Penisular, where they remained. 

In 1841 Te Korou returned home and was one of the Chiefs that restored peace in Wairarapa. Ngati 
Kahungunu, Rangitane and other tribes also returned from the north. During this time Te Korou and his 
family were drawn towards Christianity. When the missionary William Colenso called in to Kaikokirikiri 
pa, on the banks of the Waipoua River above what was to become Masterton, Te Korou and four 
generations of his family were baptised . 

Joseph Masters (after who Masterton is named) was born in 1802 in Derby, England. He moved to New 
Zealand in 1840s initially settling in Wellington. After seeing others obtaining large land he promoted 
the concept of small farm settlements – where working men could pool together and buy blocks of land 
from the Government that they could subdivide among themselves. 

In March 1853 a Small Farms Association was formed. Masters and other members met with Te Korou 
and his family at Ngaumutawa kainga. After meeting with the Association Te Korou believed a town 
near his village would bring benefits to his people. His son-in-law Ihaiah Whakamairu returned with the 
members, to start arrangements for the sale. 

In the years following, Te Korou’s son Karaitiana took over being a representative for his tribe in all 
affairs. Te Korou and Karaitiana were supporters of Te Kiingitanga. In January 1882 Te Korou passed 
away at Manaia. Many of Masterton’s leading settlers joined in the 300 strong procession to Te Korou’s 
final resting place.

Upon settling, Masters threw himself into establishing a future for himself and his family. As well as 
successfully farming his lands he represented the area in the Wellington Provincial Council and promoted 
the Trust Lands Trust. He had a strong influence over Masterton until his death in December 1873.

References: �https://library.mstn.govt.nz/wairarapa-stories/our-people/retimana-te-korou/ 
https://library.mstn.govt.nz/wairarapa-stories/our-people/joseph-masters/
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Our future
Our vision for Masterton/Wakaoriori 
The vision we outlined in our 2021-31 Long-Term Plan was that Masterton/Whakaoriori offers 
the best of rural provincial living7. 

We want ‘the best’ for everyone in our community, and especially our tamariki and mokopuna. 
We want them to be proud of who they are, and where they come from. We want Masterton to 
be a place where everyone thrives. 

We have identified five aspirational outcomes that will help us achieve our vision for Masterton 
and enhance wellbeing for our community. 

You will see these symbols appear throughout the report so you can see how we contribute 
to each community outcome and each of the four wellbeings (social, economic, environmental, 
and cultural).

An Engaged and Empowered Community 

Masterton/Whakaoriori is a positive, strong, inclusive and self-determining 
community, with equitable opportunities for everyone. 

Pride in our Identity and Heritage 

Masterton/Whakaoriori values the place and role of tangata whenua, and is 
proud of our cultural identity and heritage. 

A Sustainable and Healthy Environment  

Masterton/Whakaoriori has rivers we can swim in and drink from, clean air to breathe, 
green and blue spaces that we can enjoy and share with future generations.

A Thriving and Resilient Economy   

Masterton/Whakaoriori has a strong, sustainable low-carbon economy that 
supports our people and places. 

Efficient, Safe and Effective Infrastructure  

Masterton/Whakaoriori has high-quality and cost-effective infrastructure that 
meets the current and future needs of our community. 

7 The updated vision “Working Together Our people – Our place – Our Future” was adopted as part of the 2024-34 Long-Term 
Plan and will be reported against in the following 2024/25 Annual Report.
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TE TAU KUA TAHA
OUR YEAR AT A GLANCE

Our year in numbers
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    FINANCIAL STATISTICS           
    Last Year

  Actual 2022/23   Actual 2023/24       Budget 2023/24

$ 92,716,804 $ 95,428,842 $ 108,031,632  
$ 37,803,408  Funded by: Net Rates Revenue* $ 41,076,009 43% $ 40,891,298 38%
$ 17,549,755  Roading Subsidies $ 17,423,763 18% $ 22,022,968 20%
$18,136,464  Other Revenue $20,556,794 22% $ 20,044,035 19%

$ 5,000,000  Loans $ 6,400,000 7% $ 11,673,800 11%
$ 14,227,177  Reserve Funds $ 9,972,277 10% $ 13,399,531 12%

$ 92,716,804 $ 95,428,842 $ 108,031,632
*Includes Riversdale Beach sewerage scheme capital contributions

Financial Ratios 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Budget 23/24
Current Ratio 1.1 1.1 1.2 0.7

Liquidity Ratio 1.0 1.1 1.2 0.6
Long Term Debt (external) per rateable property $3,845 $3,855 $4,036 $4,425

Long Term Debt (external) per capita $1,724 $1,783 $1,897 $2,079
Interest costs as % of rates revenue 5.5% 6.7% 7.7% 7.3%

Debt servicing costs as % of rates revenue 13.2% 15.4% 15.3% 14.8%
Reserve Funds as % of rates revenue 81.4% 65.6% 60.4% 66.5%

Investments (external) as % of rates revenue 72.5% 55.7% 78.1% 56.6%
Rates receivable as % of rates levied 1.3% 1.7% 1.9% 1.5%

Net External Debt as % of operating revenue 39.9% 41.7% 38.7% 44.8%

Total Expenditure                       (incl 
Capital items)

Net Rates 
Revenue*

43%

Roading 
Subsidies

18%
Other 

Revenue
22%

Loans
7%

Reserve 
Funds

10%

SOURCE OF FUNDS 2023/24

Roading, $23.1 

Water Services, $6.5 

Wastewater Services, 
$8.8 Stormwater Services, $1.4 

Solid Waste Services, 
$5.9 

Community 
Facilities, $12.3 

Regulatory 
Services, $7.5 

Leadership, Strategy 
& Corp Services, $6.0 

OPERATING EXPENDITURE BY ACTIVITY
ACTUAL 2023/24 $71.5 million

0
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$ 000s

Roading, $16.6 
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$5.6 
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Solid Waste 

Services, $6.3 

Community 
Facilities, $12.2 

Regulatory 
Services, $6.6 

Leadership, Strategy & 
Corp Services, $6.9 

BUDGET 2023/24   $64.2 MILLION  
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REVENUE & EXPENDITURE COMPARISONS Total Operating
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Total Operating
Expenditure (ex other
losses)
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FINANCIAL STATISTICS            
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Financial overview
There is detailed financial information in each of the Cost of Service Statements in this report, 
as well as the Financial Prudence benchmark reporting, the financial statements and the notes 
to the financial statements. Information and commentary about variances from the adopted 
Annual Plan for 2023/24 can be found in Note 31. 

The planned operating surplus of $23.2 million was expected to be generated from NZTA 
subsidies on cyclone recovery work and government subsidies on the airport upgrade project 
and funding related to three waters (known as ‘Better Off’ funding). The actual result of a 
surplus of $10.0 million shows less revenue from all of those sources and more operating 
expenditure incurred on cyclone recovery roading work, but off set by some of this work being 
planned as capital expenditure. 

Overall, the Council’s expenditure funded by rates has been close to the level planned and 
external funding has been utilised as much as possible. The Council has maintained a steady 
financial position, while using a prudent level of reserve funds as planned while scaling back 
the level of borrowing from reserves (also known as rates smoothing that was implemented in 
the 2021-31 LTP). 

The graph that follows shows the 2023/24 financial performance compared to the Annual Plan 
and prior year.  It shows higher actual income and expenditure than planned.  

 

        

     

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 80 85

Actual 2022/23

Actual 2023/24

Plan 2023/24

$ millions

REVENUE & EXPENDITURE COMPARISONS Total Operating
Revenue (ex vested
assets and other gains)

Total Operating
Expenditure (ex other
losses)



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 21 

  

16

Rates revenue makes up 52 per cent of operating revenue (excluding vested assets and other 
gains). Rates arrears at 30 June 2024 were 1.86 per cent of the value levied, up from last years 1.75 
per cent but still at a relatively low level . We revalued our land and buildings assets as at  
30 June 2024. The three-yearly revaluation resulted in an overall uplift in those asset values by 
9.0 percent. We continued to deliver maintenance and renewal programmes for roads, footpaths, 
water supplies, wastewater systems and stormwater network assets and we have continued our 
programme of asset renewals of district facilities assets such as the Trust House Recreation Centre. 

The year 2023/24 has again seen the capital expenditure on sewer main renewals exceed $3 
million, plus another $1.26 million on the Colombo Road bridge pumping station. The on-going 
response to the weather-related flooding and sewer overflow events has been the reason for 
this on-going high level of renewal spending on this infrastructure. Some of the funding has 
come from Government’s Three Waters ‘Better Off’ funding and resilience funding and added 
to the Council’s depreciation funds and new loans as sources. The success of the additional 
renewals work has yet to be assessed, but the issues do not have a ‘quick fix’ and will require a 
long term renewal strategy, including renewing pipes on private properties.

The level of subdivision activity and new residential building has tapered off slightly from last 
year. This is seen in financial contributions from developers being $2.3 million, or $0.18 million 
more than planned but $1.3 million less than last year. Building consent fee revenue was $1.23 
million, which was very close to planned but 15 per cent down on last year.

Report on financial contributions
With respect to revenue from development, we charge financial contributions using the 
provisions of the Resource Management Act 1991, the Wairarapa Combined District Plan, and 
our Development and Financial Contributions Policy. This year we levied and/or collected $2.3 
million, which has been recognised as revenue in the period to 30 June 2024. This is $1.3 million 
less than what was collected in the previous financial year, but still reflects consistent growth in 
development and expansion of the district. Financial contributions have been set aside as part of 
Special Funds and Reserves designated for parks and reserves development, infrastructure, and 
roading upgrades. The majority of these contributions are not specifically required to be spent on 
one locality or project, so have no residual liability associated with them.
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Our performance broken down by activity:

Our performance
This section provides a summary of our non-financial performance across all our services and 
by each activity group. Each of the Cost of Service Statements includes reporting against 
measures that were set in the 2021-31 Long Term Plan.  In 2023/24, 35 measures out of 43 
(81.4 per cent) were achieved (see below), compared to 33 (76.7 per cent) in 2022/23. The 
improvement is largely driven by an increase in the number of wastewater and regulatory 
services measures that have been achieved. 

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Not 
Applicable/

Not 
Available

Total

Roads & Footpaths (6 Measures) 4 2 6

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Not 
Applicable/

Not 
Available

Water Supply (9 Measures) 5 4 2 11

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Not 
Applicable/

Not 
Available

Wastewater (6 Measures) 6 6

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Not 
Applicable/

Not 
Available

Stormwater (5 Measures) 4 1 5

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Not 
Applicable/

Not 
Available

Solid Waste (3 Measures) 3 3

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Unable to 
be 

measured
Community Facilities & Parks (6 Measures) 5 1 6

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Not 
Applicable/

Not 
Available

Regulatory Services (8 Measures) 8 8

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Unable to 
be 

measured

Total

Overall (43 Measures) 35.00 7.00 1.00 45.00

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Not 
Applicable/

Not 
Available

Roads & Footpaths (6 Measures) 4 2
Water Supply (9 Measures) 5 4
Wastewater (6 Measures) 6 0
Stormwater (5 Measures) 4 1
Solid Waste (3 Measures) 3 0
Community Facilities & Parks (6 Measures) 5 0 1
Regulatory Services (8 Measures) 8 0 THIS IS FIGURE 1 pg 13

35 7 1 43

Achieved Not 
Achieved

Unable to 
be 

measured
Regulatory Services 8
Community Facilities & Parks 5 1
Solid Waste 3
Stormwater 4 1
Wastewater 6
Water Supply 5 4
Roads & Footpaths 4 2

81.4%

16.3%
2.3%

Overall Performance in 2023/24
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Responding, protecting, and connecting
Cyclone Gabrielle recovery
Cyclone Gabrielle and other severe weather events had a big impact on our community over 
the three years since we adopted the 2021-31 LTP. 

Ongoing recovery efforts have been coordinated by the Wairarapa Recovery Office, which  
was established following the adverse weather events to work across the three district 
councils in the region and in collaboration with government agencies, iwi, and rural sector and 
community organisations. 

More information about our recovery efforts can be found under “Mana whakariterite  - 
Regulatory services” (page 68) and “Our services in action” case studies on pages 27 and 46.

Health and safety / a diverse and inclusive workplace
We value our people and aim to provide a safe, inclusive, and healthy environment for them. 
During the year we have continued strengthening our health and safety culture across all 
aspects of the organisation through our Health and Safety Committee and relevant training. 

We value a diverse and inclusive workplace, and this is reflected through our tikanga and 
organisational values.

A collaborative approach

Engagement with iwi and Māori communities
We are dedicated to fostering and upholding constructive relationships with tangata whenua, 
taura here, and various Māori communities within the Masterton District.

Representatives from Kahungunu ki Wairarapa and Rangitāne o Wairarapa have continued to 
be members of the Council’s committees with full speaking and voting rights. 
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We also have iwi representation on our Civic Facility, Wairarapa Combined District Plan Review, 
and Henley Lake Working Groups, and have been continuing work on a new engagement 
framework for iwi, hapū, marae and hapori Māori.

We are working with iwi on the development of the Māori Purpose Zone, Tangata Whenua 
Chapter and Wahi Tapu inside of the Sites of Significance Chapter as part of the Wairarapa 
Combined District Plan.

Rangitāne o Wairarapa and Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa are important partners for the 
resilience investment project for Mataikona Road and have been engaged in the work 
undertaken to date.

In consultation with iwi, the Council decided to adopt a Māori ward for the 2022 and 2025 
elections in May 2021. Following this in April 2024, the Minister of Local Government 
announced changes to the legislation. 

These changes now require councils with established Māori wards to hold a poll on whether 
they should remain. Councils can also resolve to disestablish the Māori ward without a poll. 

In July 2024, the Council decided to retain a Māori ward for the 2025 election and to hold a poll 
alongside the election. In making this decision council engaged with the governance members 
of the four local iwi entities (Kahungunu ki Wairarapa, Kahungunu ki Wairarapa Iwi Development 
Trust, Rangitāne o Wairarapa, and Rangitāne Tū Mai Rā Trust). 

Collaboration with other local authorities and bodies
We have continued to work collaboratively with the Carterton and South Wairarapa District 
Councils, and Greater Wellington Regional Council, throughout the year. 

We participate in quarterly combined council meetings to discuss joint projects and matters 
of common interest. We have continued to work with iwi, stakeholders and the community to 
review the Wairarapa Combined District Plan.

We have shared services for GIS Services, Civil Defence, and managing the joint solid waste 
contract. These shared service arrangements have continued to be undertaken and operated 
in an effective manner.

Our Wairarapa Policy Working Group Committee comprised of elected members from the three 
Wairarapa councils continues to work together on bylaws and policies for the Wairarapa.

In the past 12 months we have progressed work on reviews of the Wairarapa Local Alcohol 
Policy and adopted the Wairarapa Class 4 Gambling and Standalone TAB Venues Policy.  

At a Wellington regional level, we have participated in a range of projects being led by 
the Wellington Regional Leadership Committee and have participated in several regional 
committees including:

	y Civil Defence Emergency Management Committee

	y Remutaka Hill Road Committee

	y Te Kauru Upper Ruamāhanga River Floodplain Management Committee

	yWellington Regional Transport Committee 

	y Climate Change Working Group

	yWellington Region Waste Management and Minimisation Joint Committee. 
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TE HŌMIROMIRO I Ā MĀTOU MAHI
OUR PERFORMANCE 
IN DETAIL

Reporting service performance information
The New Zealand Accounting Standards Board (XRB) issued a Standard for Service Performance 
Reporting: Public Benefit Entity Financial Reporting Standard 48 Service Performance 
Reporting (PBE FRS 48) in November 2017, with amendments made in January 2019.

The Standard requires public benefit entities, including local government, to apply the 
requirements of the standard to annual reports that relate to a period beginning on or after  
1 January 2022, which include the requirement to comply with New Zealand generally accepted 
accounting practice (NZ(GAAP).

This Statement of Service Performance has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the standard and the Local Government Act 2002, which includes the 
requirement to report on the level of service achieved for a group of activities against the 
performance target or targets for that group of activities. 

As acknowledged in the PBE FRS 48 Standard, the following attributes apply to the current 
service performance reporting environment:

	y Service performance reporting is an area of reporting that continues to evolve;

	y Entities may be subject to a range of service performance reporting requirements, including 
legislative requirements and may use a variety of performance frameworks; and

	y It provides flexibility for entities to determine how best to ‘tell their story’ in an appropriate 
and meaningful way. 

Council requirements for service performance reporting
The Council has set the following requirements for its service performance reporting:

	y Provide users with:

	- adequate contextual details to enable users to understand the Council’s overarching 
objectives (community outcomes) and strategies – details of the Council’s vision and 
community outcomes are included on page 11 with activities and achievements that have 
contributed to these outlined on pages 22-82. 

	- details regarding the Council’s activities and accomplishments during the reporting period 
in alignment with these objectives – details of the Council’s achievements (financial and 
non-financial) for each activity are included under the “Statements of performance” section 
from pages 22-82.

	y Present its service performance information and its financial statements together in the 
Annual Report [FRS 48 para 6] – financial and non-financial performance is reported for each 
activity under the “Statement of performance” section.
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	y Present service performance information for the same entity and same reporting period as 
the financial statements [FRS 48 para 11] - financial and non-financial information is reported 
for the financial year. For this Annual Report, that is from 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024.

	y Apply the following qualitative characteristics in the context as described in the Public Benefit 
Entities’ (PBE) Conceptual Framework: relevance, faithful representation, understandability, 
timeliness, comparability and verifiability [FRS 48 para 7] – these characteristics are 
considered when performance measures are developed and/or reviewed through the Long-
Term Plan process.

	y Disclose judgements that have the most significant effect on the selection, measurement, 
aggregation and presentation of service performance information [FRS 48 para 44] – the 
performance measure framework is set through the Long-Term Plan (LTP) process.

	y Provide comparative information [FRS 48 para 37] – comparative data, where available, is 
included for the current and previous two years.

Scope of service performance reporting
The Council’s service performance information is contained within the ‘Our year in review’ (Our 
community outcomes and actions we have taken to progress these) and the “Statements of 
service performance” section (financial and non-financial information for each activity) of this 
Annual Report.

The community outcomes are drawn from the Council’s 2021-31 Long-Term Plan and also 
align with He Hiringa Tangata, He Hiringa Whenua (the Council’s Wellbeing Strategy) and the 
Council’s Infrastructure Strategy. 

PBE FRS 48 emphasises the need for judgement when determining the extent of information 
to disclose concerning the current reporting period and progress toward long-term 
objectives. Masterton District Council has presented key work that has been progressed and 
achievements that contribute toward the Council’s community outcomes. 

Selecting and Aggregating Service Performance Information
The level of aggregation used by the Council has been based on:

	y Reporting against levels of service - Our performance measures reflect the levels of service 
that were confirmed in the Long-Term Plan and include mandatory measures that local 
government is required to report on.

	y Reporting LTP targets for levels of service - Our targets are set to reflect the level of service 
for the activity. 

When setting measures through the Long-Term Plan process other considerations include 
materiality, cost-benefit, and the balance between timeliness, understandability and relevance 
of information for the end users.
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NGĀ HUARAHI WAKA, ARA-HIKOI, ME NGĀ TŪRANGA WAKA
ROADS, STREETS, FOOTPATHS 
AND PARKING AREAS 

What we do 
We provide and maintain the local transport network across the Masterton District to ensure 
safe and efficient movement of people, goods, and services. This includes the construction, 
management, and upkeep of roads, streets, footpaths, bridges, shared paths, and cycling lanes. 
We also manage essential infrastructure like street lighting, traffic facilities such as signs and 
street furniture, public parking facilities, and road stormwater drainage to support safe and 
effective transport. Our work extends to promoting sustainable transportation options, ensuring 
our network evolves with changing community needs and technological advancements.
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Why we do it 
Our roading and transport activities are vital to Masterton District’s social, cultural, economic, 
and environmental wellbeing. By providing a reliable and safe transport network, we facilitate 
seamless access to employment, education, health services, and recreational activities, which 
enhances the quality of life for our residents. Our infrastructure supports economic growth by 
enabling efficient goods transportation and by attracting businesses to the region. By  
providing infrastructure that enables active transport modes like walking and cycling, we 
contribute to the district’s environmental sustainability. This infrastructure also plays a 
crucial role in emergency response and access to other essential utility networks (power, 
telecommunications, water, sewer stormwater, public transport), making it integral to the 
district’s resilience and development.

Our highlights from the year
During the year we have continued to focus on delivering projects and ongoing maintenance 
that improve our road network. 

Highlights and key activities from 2023/24 include: 

	y Reinstatement of rural roads: Completed major repairs on rural roads damaged by weather 
events, including Cyclone Gabrielle. These efforts included the construction of 17 different 
retaining and support structures (see “Our service in action: Innovative roadway repair”), and 
three major repairs to bridge abutments. The level of service was also restored on sections of 
our two major rural routes, Masterton Castlepoint Road and Blairlogie Langdale Road. 

	y Reinstatement of approximately 7km of subsoils drainage in the rural area to keep water away 
from the road. 

	y Completed the new road between Kitchener and Gordon Streets, including footpaths, 
lighting, and essential services. 

	y Town centre improvements: Developed designs and costings for the town centre for 
consultation as part of the 2024-34 process. Following consultation, the Council  
confirmed their preferred option of completing essential work to improve water and  
roading infrastructure.

	y Roading safety improvements: Executed key safety improvements including upgrades to the 
pedestrian crossing on Pownall Street new enhanced signage and “curve marking” safety 
signs installed on major routes to provide clear visual cues on road direction, shoulder 
widening on Masterton Castlepoint Road, and installation of roadside barriers at Te Kanuka 
on Masterton Castlepoint Road.

	y Roading renewal programme: Renewed 31km of road surface, completely reconstructing 
3.7km of road, constructed a retaining wall on Oxford Street and added approximately 12,000 
tonnes of maintenance gravel to the unsealed road network. 

	y Completed reconstruction/renewal of the Ngaumutawa Road-Renall Street Roundabout; and 
roading network stormwater improvements at flood-prone intersections in the Masterton 
urban area.

	y Renewed 4.9km of footpaths  

	yMaintained the 812km roading network, including road marking, bridges, drainage, signage, 
and lighting.



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 29 

  

24

Our performance at a glance

We achieved four out of six roading measures. One of the two measures not achieved relates 
to the number of fatalities and serious injury crashes on the local road network, which was 
higher than the five-year average. The other relates to footpath condition.  

The Council has a footpath renewal program aimed at improving the condition of footpaths 
in the district. One-third of the network is assessed each year. This scoring informs the 
performance measure for footpaths - ‘Percentage of footpaths where the condition falls within 
the level of service defined in MDC’s Asset Management Plan’. In 2023/24, 181km of the 210km 
footpath network (86.3 per cent) was rated as excellent, good or fair/average. This is below the 
target of 90 per cent.

This year there has been a concerted effort to reseal the local road network with 31.3km (5.8 
per cent) resealed compared with 10.1km (1.9 per cent) last year. 

 The operating expenditure of $23.1 million was $6.4 million more than planned, largely due to 
$3.4 million of cyclone repairs to roads that were planned as capital expenditure, but did not 
result in identifiable asset components (ie could not be capitalised). Also depreciation is $1.4 
million more than planned.  The overall renewals and capital programme of $7.6 million was 
83 per cent spent (excluding vested assets and the cyclone damage work).  The extension 
of Kitchener Street to Gordon Street was nearing completion at year end, while work on 
cycleways and the town entrances were not progressed as Government and Council  
prorities changed.

20% 40% 60% 80% 100%0%

Measures achieved Measures not achieved

4% 2
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Our performance in detail

Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Number of fatalities and 
serious injury crashes on 
the local road network1

(Mandatory measure)

No more than 
the 5-year 
average.

The 5-year 
average (to 
30/06/2023) 
is one fatality 
and 10 serious 
injury crashes.

Not achieved

Two fatalities 
and seven 
serious injury 
crashes.

Achieved

No fatalities 
and nine 
serious injury 
crashes.

Not achieved

One fatality 
and twelve 
serious injury 
crashes.

Average quality of ride 
on a sealed local road 
network, by smooth 
travel exposure2

(Mandatory measure)

Maintain or 
improve on 
90 per cent.

Achieved

92 per cent 
network 
smooth travel 
exposure.                                     

Achieved

94 per cent 
network 
smooth travel 
exposure.                                  

Achieved

94 per cent 
network 
smooth travel 
exposure.                    

Percentage of sealed 
local road network that 
is resurfaced.

(Mandatory measure)

Maintain 
within              
5-7 per cent.

Achieved

5.8 per cent

(Resurfaced 
31.3 km of the 
total 538 km 
sealed local 
road network).

Not achieved

1.9 per cent

(Resurfaced 
10.1 km of the 
total 535 km 
sealed local 
road network).

Achieved

5.0 per cent

(Resurfaced 
28.5 km of the 
total 535 km 
sealed local 
road network).

Percentage of footpaths 
where the condition 
falls within the level of 
service defined in MDC’s 
Asset Management Plan

(Mandatory measure)

90 per cent 
of footpaths 
are rated 
excellent, 
good or fair/
average.

Not achieved

86.3 per cent 

(181km of 
210km of 
the footpath 
network 
surveyed 
to June 
2024 was 
in condition 
rated 
excellent, 
good or 
average)3.

Achieved

91.7 per cent

(196.2km 
of 214km of 
the footpath 
network 
surveyed 
to June 
2023 was 
in condition 
rated 
excellent, 
good or 
average).

Achieved

91.9 per cent

(193km of 
210km of 
the footpath 
network 
surveyed 
to June 
2022 was 
in condition 
rated 
excellent, 
good or fair).
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Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Percentage of urgent 
customer service 
requests responded to 
within 2 days.

(Mandatory measure)

95 per 
cent  within 
specified 
timeframe

Achieved

95.1 per cent

(175 out of 
184 urgent 
requests were 
responded 
to within two 
days).

Achieved

98.9 per cent

(270 out of 
273 urgent 
requests were 
responded 
to within two 
days).

Achieved

99.6 per cent

(283 out of 
284 urgent 
requests were 
responded 
to within two 
days).

Percentage of non-
urgent customer service 
requests responded to 
within the timeframes 
specified in MDC’s 
Asset Management 
Plan and placed on 
appropriate maintenance 
programme.

(Mandatory measure)

70 per 
cent within 
specified 
timeframe

Achieved

86.4 per cent

(746 out of 
863 non-
urgent 
requests were 
responded 
to within the 
timeframe).

Achieved

82.9 per cent

(978 out of 
1167 non-
urgent 
requests were 
responded 
to within the 
timeframe).

Achieved

91.5 per cent

(762 out of 
833 non-
urgent 
requests were 
responded 
to within the 
timeframe).

Notes:
1 Numbers are taken from Waka Kotahi’s Crash Analysis System, which is updated continuously. 
2 �Smooth Travel Exposure (STE) is a customer outcome measure indicating ‘ride quality’. It is an indication of the percentage of 
vehicle kilometres travelled on a road network with roughness below a defined upper threshold level. The threshold varies 
depending on the traffic volume band and urban/rural environment of the road.

3 �The Council has a footpath renewal program aimed at improving the condition of footpaths in the district. One-third of the 
network is assessed each year, resulting in a lag in condition scoring. This scoring informs the performance measure for 
footpaths - ‘Percentage of footpaths where the condition falls within the level of service defined in MDC’s Asset Management 
Plan’. A proposal for ‘catch up’ work to achieve the mandatory asset condition ratings was table with NZTA. This was  
declined. Catch up is unlikely without additional funding from NZTA. At this stage, they have indicated this is unlikely in the 
foreseeable future.  
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Our service in action
Innovative roadway repair with enhanced resilience and significant cost savings
Following severe weather in 2022 and cyclones Hale and Gabrielle in 2023, Masterton District 
faced urgent challenges with roadside slips that disrupted transportation and posed significant 
safety risks. Restoring these roads was vital for maintaining regional access and preventing 
further erosion and slips, particularly in vulnerable areas.

A strategic decision was made for some suitably assessed sites to use the EcoReef system —
an innovative solution featuring interlocking hexagonal modules designed to create a  
self-supporting structure. This approach promised not only to repair but also to enhance the 
long-term resilience of the roads.

The Council’s Roading Services team worked closely with Fulton Hogan and EcoReef to  
deliver the project ahead of schedule and achieved significant cost savings of over $1.2m. The 
savings reflect a reduction in immediate repair costs and represent a proactive investment 
in minimising future maintenance, showcasing a commitment to both fiscal responsibility and 
innovative solutions.   

The repairs restored safe, functional roadways that are crucial for everyday travel and 
connectivity in the district and laid the groundwork for future infrastructure strategies.

Council Roading Services Manager, Kaine Jaquiery said: “While this specific repair project 
addresses immediate needs, ongoing maintenance and monitoring will be required to ensure 
the long-term stability of the repaired sections. The success of this approach may lead to 
further applications of the EcoReef system in future recovery or maintenance projects, making it 
a potentially evolving part of the region’s infrastructure strategy.” 
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Cost of service statement

RRooaaddss,,  SSttrreeeettss,,  FFoooottppaatthhss  &&  PPaarrkkiinngg  AArreeaass

RRooaaddss,,  SSttrreeeettss,,  FFoooottppaatthhss  &&  PPaarrkkiinngg  AArreeaass
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RRooaaddss,,  SSttrreeeettss,,  FFoooottppaatthhss  &&  PPaarrkkiinngg  AArreeaass
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HOPUA WAI (TĀONE ME TE TAIWHENUA)
WATER SUPPLIES 
(URBAN AND RURAL)

What we do 
We provide treated water that is safe to drink to the Masterton urban reticulation system, 
Tinui, and the Waingawa industrial area. In rural areas, we provide non-drinking water to rural 
schemes and water race supplies.

We own and maintain a network of water mains, trunk mains, tanks, reservoirs and water 
treatment facilities at Kaituna and Tinui.

Why we do it 
Our water supply activity contributes to wellbeing by ensuring residents and visitors have 
access to clean, safe water, and by providing that water with minimal environmental impact. 
Through this activity we contribute to our community’s health and safety, support residential 
and commercial water needs and protect the environment.
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Our highlights from the year
During the year we have continued to focus on delivering projects and ongoing maintenance 
that improve our water supply. 

Highlights and key activities from 2023/24 include:

	yMaintaining the safety and integrity of our drinking water supplies for Masterton and Tinui, 
including meeting reporting requirements for Taumata Arowai.

	y Investing in the replacement of the water network, with a $2.6 million spend (see “Our service 
in action: Building water resilience: Masterton’s commitment to a sustainable future”)

	y Commenced the implementation of a technological compliance management and  
monitoring system.

	y Continued support for the rural water supply networks.

Our performance at a glance

We achieved five out of nine water supply measures.

Measures that were achieved related to the number of complaints received about drinking 
water, and timeliness of attendance and resolutions for call outs.

Two measures relating to the Drinking Water Quality Assurance Rules (DWQAR) compliance 
with Part 4 and 5 of the Drinking Water Standards have been reported as “Partially compliant – 
not achieved”. This is due to a change in the regulatory data requirements, resulting in technical 
non-compliance, rather than a safety issue with Masterton’s drinking water. The technical data 
reporting requirements issue has now been addressed. 

In 2023/24 we have changed our approach to the way we calculate water loss following advice 
from our last end of year audit [refer to note 6]. Due to the change in approach the results 
reported are not comparable to previous years, or the target. 

Masterton’s urban water supply operating costs (excluding depreciation) were overspent in 
2023/24 by 15.5% ($3.7 million vs $3.2 million).  This is largely down to more water connection 
and water mains repairs needed to meet service levels, while maintenance and chemicals costs 
at the water treatment plant have again exceeded budget.  Water mains renewal contracts 
and connection renewals totaled $2.77 million versus a budget of $1.6 million. Much of the 
accelerated spending is a result of the unplanned replacing the Kitchener Street main to 
facilitate improved stormwater drainage associated with the road extension. The water meter 
installation project continued with the spend being in line with budget. 

20% 40% 60% 80% 100%0%

Measures achieved Measures not achieved

5 4
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Our performance in detail

Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Number of complaints 
received about drinking 
water clarity, taste, 
odour, pressure or flow, 
continuity of supply, or 
MDC’s response to any 
of these issues. 

(Mandatory measure) 

Less than or 
equal to 6 
complaints 
per 1000 
connections 

Achieved

2.58 
complaints 
per 1000 
connections 

(26 actual 
complaints)

Achieved

4.88 
complaints 
per 1000 
connections

(48 actual 
complaints)

Achieved

2.37 
complaints 
per 1000 
connections

(23 actual 
complaints) 

Response time to call outs to a fault or unplanned interruption to MDC’s networked 
reticulation system: 

a) �Attendance at urgent 
call outs1 (from 
notification to arrival 
on site) 

(Mandatory measure) 

60 minutes or 
less 

Achieved

28 minutes 

Achieved

50 minutes 

Achieved

38 minutes 

b) �Resolution of 
urgent call outs 
(from notification 
to confirmation of 
resolution) 

(Mandatory measure) 

480 minutes 
or less 

Achieved

61 minutes 

Achieved

113 minutes 

Achieved

137 minutes 

c) �Attendance at non-
urgent call outs2 (from 
notification to arrival 
on site) 

(Mandatory measure) 

7 days or less Achieved

74 minutes 

Achieved

69 minutes 

Achieved

53 minutes 

d) �Resolution of non-
urgent call outs 
(from notification 
to confirmation of 
resolution) 

(Mandatory measure) 

3 months or 
less 

Achieved

140 minutes 

Achieved

108 minutes

Achieved

115 minutes

Council’s drinking water supply complies with: 

a) �Part 4 of the Drinking 
Water Standards 
(bacteria compliance 
criteria)3. 

(Mandatory measure) 

Fully 
compliant 

Not achieved

Masterton: 
Compliant 
Tinui: 
Partially 
compliant5

Achieved

Fully 
compliant

Achieved

Fully 
compliant
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b) �Part 5 of the Drinking 
Water Standards 
(protozoal compliance 
criteria)4. 

(Mandatory measure) 

Fully 
compliant 

Not achieved

Masterton:

Compliant

Tinui:

Partially 
compliant5

Achieved

Fully 
compliant

Not achieved

Fully compliant 
for 98.9 per 
cent of days 
(361 out of  
365 days). 

There were 
four days 
where filtered 
turbidity 
exceeded the 
standard for 
more than 1 
per cent of 
the time.  

Percentage of real 
water loss from MDC’s 
reticulation system 
(calculated using 
minimum night flow). 

(Mandatory measure) 

Year 3: No 
more than 
32.4 per cent 

(Based on 
historic 
approach of 
calculating 
water loss)6 

Not achieved

45 per cent6

Achieved

New 
approach: 
47.0 per cent6

Previously 
reported as 
32.4 per cent 
using historic 
approach.

Achieved

New 
approach: 
47.0 per cent6

Previously 
reported as 
32.5 per cent 
using historic 
approach.

Average consumption 
of drinking water per 
day per resident within 
the district. (Demand 
management). 

(Mandatory measure) 

Year 3: No 
more than 
578 litres per 
person per 
day 

Not achieved

664 litres per 
person per 
day7

Not achieved

586 litres per 
person per 
day 

Achieved

578 litres per 
person per 
day 

Notes:
1  An urgent call-out is one that leads to a complete loss of supply of drinking water.
2 A non-urgent call-out is one where there is still a supply of drinking water.
3 �For bacterial compliance testing, E. coli is used as the indicator organism for contamination of drinking-water by faecal material 

(Further Information) 
4 �The compliance criteria for protozoa are based on the probability that the treatment process has inactivated (by disinfecting to 

achieve the prescribed C.t value) or removed (by achieving target filtrate turbidity) any protozoa present (Further Information) 
5 �Changes to DWQAR in 2022 have resulted in technical non-compliance. Data is collected but there is a new requirement to 

now continually monitor parameters. This has required installation of new technology. Systems are now installed. 
6 �The Department of Internal Affairs Water Loss Guidelines (WLG) sets out two approaches for calculating water loss: a water 

balance methodology, and a night flow measurement. In previous years, the Council has used a night flow measurement 
approach, using a single lowest nighttime flow with allowances for real use for key users, including hospitals, schools and JNL 
LTD, and for households. As part of the audit of the 2022/23 Annual Report, Audit New Zealand reviewed our approach and 
recommended we change to a water balance approach. The WLG note that any water loss calculation that “is not based on an 
annual water balance can only be regarded as an indicative value”. The 2022/23 Annual Report notes MDC’s intention to move 
to a water balance approach for future water loss calculations. The water balance approach has been applied to the 2023/24 
results.  Given that, results are not directly comparable with results from previous years. To enable some comparison, the new 
approach to calculating water loss has been retrospectively applied to the previous two years: 2022/23 – 47%, 2021/22 47%. 
These numbers are to be regarded as indicative as per WLG. They will be used as a baseline against an improved quality set of 
data following the introduction of water meters and our hydraulic model for the water network.

7 �Accuracy will be tested up against monthly meter reads. Improvement projects are in place for the 24/25 year, which are likely 
to see a reduction in the average daily consumption across the district.
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Our service in action
Building water resilience: Masterton’s commitment to a sustainable future
Water is an important and critical resource for our community. Safeguarding long-term water 
resilience is a priority for Masterton.

Over the past 12 months we have continued to work alongside Carterton and South Wairarapa 
District Councils and Greater Wellington Regional Council to implement a jointly developed 
Water Resilience Strategy. 

We have also continued work on leak detection and remediation, key elements of our water 
renewals program, which will continue to address issues across the district.

Water resilience is a consideration in our 2024 Long-Term Plan, adopted 30 June 2024. The 
Council has allocated significant funding in the 2024-34 Long-Term Plan for water infrastructure 
improvements. Over the next few years, $8.4 million will be invested in constructing larger raw 
water storage ponds at the Kaituna water treatment plant, ensuring greater capacity during 
times of need. An additional $7.9 million will go towards a new treated water reservoir, further 
bolstering our ability to meet future demand.

Other major projects include renewing the trunk mains that carry bulk water into urban areas 
and upgrading the water main in the CBD, both of which are vital for maintaining a reliable 
water supply.

In tandem with these infrastructure projects, water meters are being installed across urban 
properties. These meters not only help users identify leaks on private property but also 
encourage responsible water usage and aid consumer behaviour changes. We have been 
working on developing an equitable charging regime to ensure fairness in water costs.

The Proposed Wairarapa Combined District Plan (formally notified in October 2023) includes 
new requirements for domestic water storage, supporting conservation efforts and further 
strengthening our community’s resilience.

By investing in both infrastructure and policy, the Council is taking proactive steps to ensure we 
have enough water to meet our community’s needs now and in the future. 
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Cost of service statement

UUrrbbaann  WWaatteerr  SSuuppppllyy  

RRuurraall  WWaatteerr  SSuupppplliieess

WWaatteerr  SSuupppplliieess
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RATONGA WAI PARU
WASTEWATER SERVICES 

What we do 
Wastewater services are provided to approximately 9,600 separate connected residential, 
commercial and industrial properties in the urban area, Waingawa industrial area, Riversdale, 
Castlepoint, and Tinui. The services include maintaining our network of pipes, pump stations, 
treatment plants, wetland cells and a waste stabilisation pond. The system provides for efficient 
and safe collection, treatment and disposal of wastewater, which drains from things like our 
toilets, showers, baths, sinks, washing machines and dishwashers.

Why we do it 
Our wastewater activity contributes to wellbeing by protecting the health and safety of our 
community, supporting residential and business development, and ensuring that wastewater 
disposal has minimal impact on the natural environment.
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Our highlights from the year
During the year we have continued to focus on delivering projects and ongoing maintenance 
that improve our wastewater services.

Highlights and key activities from 2023/24 include:

	y Replaced or relined 4.3km of sewer mains, substantially more than the 2.3km planned for the 
year. This has been achieved by working with new technology to reline, rather than replace, 
sewer mains. 

	y Installed and commissioned the Colombo Road pump station. The pump station is  
operating successfully.

	y Continued investigation and remedial work for the Cockburn Street catchment to alleviate 
historic problems with sewer overflows impacting residents (see “Our service in action: 
Cockburn Street stormwater solution under the stormwater activity”). 

	y Launched a dedicated wastewater and stormwater project to isolate and resolve asset issues 
relating to the Cockburn Street catchment including the development of a long-term strategic 
roadmap for stormwater and wastewater.

Our performance at a glance

We achieved all six wastewater measures. 

It is hard to make direct comparison with previous years due to the rain and weather  
events since February 2022 that impacted results for the Council’s wastewater and  
stormwater services. 

The number of complaints received about sewerage is about quarter the number that was 
received last year, while the median response time to attend sewerage overflows have halved. 
This year only two port-a-loos needed to be deployed compared to 160 last year. 

Urban wastewater operating costs (excluding depreciation) of $4.8 million were 8.3 per cent 
more than planned. This was largely due to higher costs of sewer reticulation, in particular 
pump hire costs during the construction of the Colombo Road pumping station. Wastewater 
main renewal costs were $2.99 million versus a budget of $3.29 million. Some $1.8 million 
of this cost has been funded externally through ‘Better Off’ and Resilience funding. The new 
Colombo Road pump station project was completed at close the the planned budget. The $1.3 
million extension of the Millard Avenue sewer main did not proceed this year. 

20% 40% 60% 80% 100%0%

Measures achieved Measures not achieved

6
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Our performance in detail

Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Number of complaints 
received about 
sewerage odour, 
system faults, system 
blockages, MDC’s 
response to issues with 
its sewerage system.

(Mandatory measure)

Less than or 
equal to 8 
complaints 
per 1,000 
connections.

Achieved

6.56 
complaints  
per 1000 
connections 

(65 actual 
complaints)

Not achieved

26.56 
complaints 
per 1,000 
connections

(257 actual 
complaints) 

Not achieved

15.95 
complaints 
per 1,000 
connections

(152 actual 
complaints)

Median response time to sewerage overflows1 resulting from a blockage or other fault to 
MDC’s sewerage system:

a) �attendance (from time 
of notification to the 
time service personnel 
arrive onsite)

(Mandatory measure) 

6 hours or 
less

Achieved

25 minutes 

Achieved

52 minutes 

Achieved

131 minutes 

(2.18 hours)

b) �resolution (from 
time of notification 
to the time service 
personnel confirm 
resolution)

(Mandatory measure) 

12 hours or 
less 

Achieved

161 minutes 

(2.68 hours)

Achieved

102 minutes 

(1.7 hours)

Not achieved

1,084 minutes

(18.07 hours) 

Number of dry weather 
sewerage overflows2 
from MDC’s sewerage 
system

(Mandatory measure) 

Less than 
or equal to 
2 per 1,000 
connections

Achieved

1.01 per 1,000 
connections 

(10  Actual 
complaints)

Achieved

0.41 per 1,000 
connections

(4 actual 
complaints)       

Achieved

1.15 per 1,000 
connections

(11 actual 
complaints)  
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Notes:
1  Sewerage overflow means sewage that escapes MDC’s sewerage system and enters the environment
2 �Dry weather sewerage overflow means sewage that escapes a territorial authority’s sewerage system and enters the 

environment during periods of dry weather.

Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Compliance with MDC’s 
resource consents 
for discharge from 
its sewerage system, 
measured by the 
number of abatement 
notices, infringement 
notices, enforcement 
orders or convictions 
received by MDC 
in relation to those 
consents.

(Mandatory measure) 

100 per cent 
- no consent 
breaches

Achieved

100 per cent 
compliant  

Not achieved

One 
abatement 
notice served

Not achieved

One 
infringement 
received

Alternative system 
provided where loss 
of service exceeds 24 
hours 

Less than 
or equal to 
1 per 1,000 
connections 

Achieved

0.2 per 1,000 
connections 

(2 port-a-loos 
provided)  

Not achieved

16.53 per 
1,000 
connections

(160 port-a-
loos required) 

Not achieved

6.4 per 1,000 
connections

(61 port-a-loos 
required)
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Cost of service statement

WWaasstteewwaatteerr  SSeerrvviicceess  --  uurrbbaann

WWaasstteewwaatteerr  SSeerrvviicceess  --  rruurraall  sscchheemmeess
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WWaasstteewwaatteerr  SSeerrvviicceess



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 48 

  

43

WAIMARANGAI
STORMWATER

What we do 
We provide stormwater systems, including the use of natural channels and streams, to collect 
and dispose of surface water run-off from residential, commercial and industrial properties in 
the urban area. The stormwater system in rural areas is primarily open drains.

We own and maintain a network of pipes, manholes, and river stopbanks along the Waipoua 
and Ruamāhanga Rivers. We also contribute to designated stopbank protection works on the 
Waipoua, Waingawa, and Ruamāhanga Rivers.
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Why we do it 
Our stormwater system contributes to wellbeing by minimising the impact of significant events, 
such as flooding, protecting the health and safety of our community.

Our highlights from the year
During the year we have continued to focus on delivering projects and ongoing maintenance 
that improve our wastewater services.

	y Granted Stage 1 Stormwater Monitoring Consent. This provides valuable insights into our 
environmental impact and allows us to take proactive steps to mitigate any negative effects. 

	y Engaged with Greater Wellington Regional Council forums for ongoing management of the 
stormwater protections in the Masterton District.

	y Scoped and commenced the Cockburn Street sewer/stormwater project (See “Our service in 
action: Cockburn Street stormwater solution”).

Our performance at a glance

We achieved four of our five stormwater measures.

It is hard to make direct comparison with previous years due to the rain and weather events 
since February 2022 that impacted results for Council’s wastewater and stormwater services. 

All stormwater measures have improved. There were no reported events of flooding, or 
consent breaches. While the number of complaints received about the performance of our 
stormwater system was significantly lower than last year (29 complaints vs 91) we were still 
slightly above our target.

Operating costs in this activity exceeded the planned level by $169k (30 per cent). This is 
due to the Council’s contribution to GWRC’s flood resilience work on the Ruamahanga River 
($160k) being treated as operating cost - it was budgeted as a capital expenditure item.  Work 
associated with stopbanks through QE Park was not progressed. 

20% 40% 60% 80% 100%0%

Measures achieved Measures not achieved

4 1



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 50 

  

45

Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Number of flooding 
events1 that occur in the 
district

(Mandatory measure)

10 events or 
less

Achieved

No flooding 
events

Achieved

5 flooding 
events

Achieved

2 flooding 
events

For each flooding event, 
the number of habitable 
floors affected

(Mandatory measure) 

Less than 
or equal to 
1 per 1,000 
connections

Achieved

0 per 1,000 
connections

No habitable 
floors affected 

Achieved

0 per 1,000 
connections

No habitable 
floors affected 

Achieved

0.33 per 1,000 
connections

3 habitable 
floors affected 

Compliance with MDC’s 
resource consents 
for discharge from its 
stormwater system, 
measured by the 
number of abatement 
notices, infringement 
notices, enforcement 
orders or convictions 
received by MDC 
in relation to those 
consents.)

(Mandatory measure) 

100 per cent 
compliance 

Achieved

100 per cent 
- no consent 
breaches

Achieved

100 per cent 
- no consent 
breaches

Achieved

100 per cent 
- no consent 
breaches

Number of complaints 
received about the 
performance of MDC’s 
stormwater system

(Mandatory measure) 

Less than 
or equal to 
3 per 1,000 
connections

Not achieved

3.22 
complaints 
per 1,000 
connections

(29 actual 
complaints)

Not achieved

10.11 
complaints 
per 1,000 
connections

(91 actual 
complaints)

Not achieved

4.11 complaints 
per 1,000 
connections

(37 actual 
complaints)

Median response time to 
attend a flooding event 
(from time of notification 
to the time service 
personnel arrive onsite)

(Mandatory measure) 

60 minutes or 
less

Achieved

N/A – no 
flooding 
events 
reported

Achieved

21 minutes 

Not achieved

6,531 minutes 
(109 hours)

Our performance in detail

Notes:
1  A flooding event means an overflow of stormwater from MDC’s stormwater system that enters a habitable floor. 
2 �Habitable floor refers to a floor of a building (including a basement) but does not include ancillary structures such as stand-

alone garden sheds or garages.
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Our service in action
Cockburn Street stormwater solution: A pilot for sustainable  
wastewater/stormwater infrastructure
Cockburn Street and Colombo Road have faced overflow issues for a number of years with 
wastewater overflowing onto properties following heavy rainfall - most recently following 
cyclones Hale and Gabrielle in 2023.

Following Cyclone Gabrielle, the Council initiated a project to install valves and storage tanks at 
the worst-affected properties. This was recognised as a temporary, short-term fix, and a more 
permanent solution was needed. 

In 2023, the Council engaged consultants to work in conjunction with staff to indentify sources 
of stormwater inflow to the sewer and develop solutions. 

The first stage has commenced, with investigations into the source of stormwater inflow . This 
work has already had a positive effect on the network but will be ongoing for some time. 

Eliminating stormwater entering the sewerage system will reduce flows, which will in turn 
reduce the likelihood of overflows and reduce the volume of wastewater to be treated.

The Stormwater Wastewater pilot project has seen Council work close with the affected 
residents to make sure their concerns are heard and addressed. 

Looking ahead, the Cockburn Street project will serve as a template for the future. 
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Cost of service statement
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TARI WHAKARITE PARAPARA
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT 

What we do 
We provide a reliable, environmentally safe and cost-effective rubbish collection and disposal 
service. We also work to promote the adoption of sustainable waste minimisation practices.

The current refuse collection and transfer station operations, gate fee collection, composting, 
and recycling services at Nursery Road and in rural areas are carried out under performance-
based contracts let by competitive tender to the private sector.

We own, maintain and manage a main transfer and recycling station at Nursery Road, Masterton 
and two rural transfer stations (Castlepoint and Riversdale), including associated buildings and 
the weighbridge at the urban landfill.
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Why we do it 
Our solid waste service contributes to wellbeing by supporting our community to manage 
waste and promoting waste minimisation. Together this protects our community’s health and 
natural environment.

Our highlights from the year
During the year we have continued to support our community to manage waste and promote 
waste minimisation. 

Highlights and key activities from 2023/24 include: 

	y Completed and adopted the Wellington Region Waste Management and Minimisation Plan 

	y Completed a service delivery review of our solid waste activity, known under the Local 
Government Act as a Section 17A. The purpose of the review is to identify the most cost-
effective method for delivering services to the community.

	y Successfully obtained funding from Ministry for the Environment to do a feasibility study on 
an organics kerbside collection. The funding was a joint application with South Wairarapa and 
Carterton District Councils, with each council also contributing funding. 

	y Launched a battery recycling programme at the Riversdale and Castlepoint transfer stations 
(see “Our service in action: Powering a cleaner and safer future”). 

Our performance at a glance

We achieved all three solid waste measures.

The amount of waste transferred to the landfill has continued its downward trend.

The delivery of our solid waste service was fully compliant with all resource consent 
requirements. The number of call-backs for the non-collection of rubbish bags slightly 
increased with 11 call-backs compared to eight. 

External user charge revenue was down 13 per cent on planned due to lower tonnes of waste 
coming into the Masterton transfer station. Correspondingly, costs for waste disposal were 11.3 
per cent less. Waste minimisation (including recycling) costs were close to planned. 

20% 40% 60% 80% 100%0%

Measures achieved Measures not achieved

3
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Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Number of call backs 
due to non-collection 
of official rubbish bag in 
each weekly collection

No more than 
52 call-backs 
per annum.

Achieved

11 call-backs

Achieved

8 call-backs

Achieved

5 call-backs

Tonnage of waste 
transferred to landfill per 
head of population

Reduction on 
previous year 
(0.513 tonne 
per head of 
population)

Note: When 
the new 
bylaw is 
implemented, 
a new 
baseline 
will be 
established 
for reporting 
purposes.

Achieved

0.462 tonne 
per head of 
population 

(est. 
population as 
at 30/6/23: 
29,000) 

13,391 tonnes 
of waste 
transferred  

Achieved

0.513  tonne 
per head of 
population 

(est. 
population as 
at 30/6/23: 
29,000) 

14,882 tonnes 
of waste 
transferred  

Not achieved

0.582 tonne 
per head of 
population 

(est. 
population as 
at 30/6/23: 
29,000) 

16,883 tonnes 
of waste 
transferred  

Urban and rural transfer 
stations, recycling, 
composting facilities and 
landfills operate within 
approved resource 
consent conditions

100 per cent 
compliance 

Achieved

100 per cent 
compliance

Achieved

100 per cent 
compliance

Achieved

100 per cent 
compliance

Our performance in detail
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Our service in action
Powering a cleaner and safer future: Masterton’s community-driven battery 
recycling initiative
We’ve stepped up our commitment to sustainable waste minimisation practices with a  
battery recycling (Lithium-ion) product stewardship scheme at Riversdale and Castlepoint 
Transfer Stations. 

The initiative, driven primarily by the community and supported by staff and contractors, was 
designed to ensure that lithium-ion batteries are disposed of ethically and safely. This isn’t just 
about getting rid of old batteries – it’s about preventing harmful chemicals from leaking into 
the environment and reducing the risk of fires igniting in kerbside wheelie bins, waste trucks, 
transfer stations, and landfills. The Council’s commitment to this project aligns perfectly with 
our Waste Minimisation and Management Plan (WMMP) objectives, focusing on protecting both 
people and the environment.

The impact of this project has been significant. Not only has it provided a safe disposal method 
for the community, but it has also allowed Fire and Emergency New Zealand (FENZ) to safely 
dispose of lithium-ion batteries from smoke alarms as part of their fire prevention efforts. This 
collaboration highlights how local initiatives can have a broader positive effect.

What stands out most about this project is the community’s enthusiastic response. “Without any 
campaign as such, our community has taken up on this initiative and is using it more and more.” 
says Joanne Dean, Waste and Resource Recovery Advisor.  So far, 700 kilograms of batteries 
have been collected, demonstrating the community’s commitment to the environment.

With the community already showing such strong support, the future of battery recycling in 
Masterton looks bright.
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Cost of service statement
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NGĀ WHARE O TE HAPORI ME NGĀ PĀKA
COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
AND PARKS 

What we do 
We provide and support a wide range of parks and facilities throughout the district for use by 
the community, including: 

	y the Library and Archive, 

	y property (74 senior housing units, 13 public toilets, seven rural halls, rural holding paddocks, 
small roadside forestry blocks, Mawley Park camping ground and other rental properties),

	y 215 hectares of urban and rural parks, reserves and sports fields,

	y the Trust House Recreation Centre (including a stadium and a range of indoor and outdoor 
pools),

	y four cemeteries

	y Hood Aerodrome.

We are also responsible for the municipal building and town hall; however these are currently 
closed to the community due to risks associated with the buildings’ low earthquake rating.
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Why we do it 
We provide community facilities and activities to support wellbeing and contribute to making 
Masterton an enjoyable place to live.

The Library and Archive service provides a learning environment where people can access 
resources that increase their skills and knowledge, and preserves and promotes the historical 
records of the Wairarapa. This empowers the community and allows greater connection to our 
culture and heritage.

The properties we own and/or manage support the community by providing accessible 
locations for the Council’s operations; enabling residents to meet and participate in social, 
cultural and leisure activities; and ensuring low-cost, well-maintained rental accommodation is 
provided for older members of our community who have limited financial resources. In addition, 
community health is protected by the provision of public toilets throughout the district and 
tourism is encouraged through Mawley Park, which provides temporary accommodation for 
visitors to the area.

Our parks, reserves and sports fields provide recreational opportunities for residents and 
visitors, while also protecting, preserving and enhancing the natural environment. In addition, 
the Trust House Recreation Centre provides a facility where people can learn to swim and 
engage in physical activity. It also hosts key events like the Golden Shears. Through offering 
attractive environments for exercise and sport, we encourage active and healthy lifestyles and 
promote community health and wellbeing.

Cemeteries are provided to give the community an attractive and respectful environment 
for the remembrance of the deceased. This service ensures that burials and cremations are 
socially and culturally appropriate and do not pose a risk to public health. Through this service 
we also maintain cemetery records, which provide a valuable resource to people researching 
their family history. 

Hood Aerodrome provides a strategic air facility for small private passenger flights, freight 
and air ambulance services to the Wairarapa. The aerodrome also encourages economic 
development through provision of facilities for pilot training, recreational aviation, aviation-
related businesses and major air events.
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Our highlights from the year
Library and Archive

	y Library usage increased with more people returning to the library in person following Covid-19.

	y Delivered over 700 free events with 12,000+ attendees at the Library.

	y The Archive delivered 36 presentations to the community. 

Community development

	y Hosted a successful events programme, including the Christmas Parade, Halloween 
Cultural Festival and Waitangi Day events (see “Our service in action: Celebrating together: 
Developing community spirit through inclusive family-friendly events”) 

	y Approved the Riversdale Beach Community Plan for 2024–34.

	y Secured external funding to enhance our community events, initiatives, and programmes.

	y Held two Community Association meetings, bringing together our five associations from the 
Masterton District.

	y Engaged with youth through dedicated strategies, the Youth Council, and the Waka Tākaro 
Play Trailer.

Property

	y Completed the rear carpark expansion at Panama Village, increasing the parking capacity for 
residents and support agencies. The adjacent grassed area had three raised planting beds 
installed for residents to utilise. A non-potable water storage tank was installed to provide an 
alternative water source for the garden beds if water restrictions are in place.  

	y Continued interior refurbishments within the senior housing portfolio as units became 
available. All units continue to be maintained and compliant with the healthy homes 
standards. 

	y Completed earthquake strengthening of the Queen Elizabeth Park Sports Club and installed 
energy efficient heat pumps. 

	y Construction of new accessible ramp at the Douglas Villa Clubrooms began during the fourth 
quarter of the 2023/24.

	y Upgraded the sewerage system and installed extra non-potable water storage at the Tinui 
Rural Hall to help support community resilience.

Parks, reserves and sports fields

	y Added approximately 8,000 native plants to the escarpment area in the Southern Reserve at 
Riversdale Beach to support the maintenance and expansion of the key native eco-system. 

	y Restored and secured beach access at Northern Reserve for the Riversdale Beach Surf Life 
Saving Club following Cyclone Gabrielle through the installation of a rock wall. 

	y Started a regenerative turf study across 11 sports grounds. The results will help identify 
opportunities to restore the soil health and reduce the need for chemical applications. 
Research into drought tolerant sports turf surfaces has also begun. 

	y 	Undertook research into options for the artificial track surface at the Colin Pugh Sports Bowl, 
which included consideration for a return to grass. As a result, artificial turf replacement 
remains the preferred option and is budgeted for within the 2024-34 LTP.     

	y Completed the conversion of the Riverside Cemetery to lawn style and expanded the 
Returned Services area. 
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	y Upgraded McJorrow Park playground to improve accessibility to play equipment, including 
the addition of several interactive play panels to enhance the play experience.

	y Progressed plans for using an existing council asset for the Youth Hub at the skatepark.  
Completion of the project is planned for the end of October 2024.  

	y Developed a collaborative funding model approach for the Henley Lake Playground. This will 
include contributions from Henley Trust, Masterton Host Waipoua Lions and the Lansdowne 
Residents Association. 

	y Enhanced Solway Reserve in collaboration with Friends of Solway Reserve and Greater 
Wellington Regional Council by clearing out noxious weeds and pests and increasing native 
plantings. Solway Reserve is one of the last remaining areas of remnant bush.

Trust House Recreation Centre

	y Completed a Condition and Energy Assessment, with work progressing on necessary 
remedial work.

	y Completed a significant amount of corrective work during a facility shutdown between April 
and May 2024. This included upgrading the heat pump and improving the floor surface in the 
changing facilities for the main pool. 

	y Delivered cost efficiencies by consolidating the toddler pool roof repairs into a larger roof 
upgrade project. Designs for the toddler pool roof were completed.

Hood Aerodrome

	y Appointed a contractor for the runway widening project and preparation work to create the 
new 30m wide runway was completed. Final surfacing had to be postponed due to weather 
conditions. The runway was returned to an operational state until weather conditions improve 
– completion of work is planned for November 2024.

	y Increased the apron area near the terminal as part of the runway project. This will be finished 
with the main runway work in November 2024.    

	y Continued work on the Enhancement Project to settle on the layout for future hangar 
development. The work was done in preparation for a tender process to carry out the civil 
engineering and installation of services in year one of the 2024-34 LTP.

	y Continued development of the Safety Management System and preparation of 
documentation for the certification application to CAA.
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20% 40% 60% 80% 100%0%

Measures achieved Measures not achieved Unable to be measured

5 1

Our performance at a glance

We achieved five of our six community facilities and park measures. 

Library usage is higher in 2023/24 than it has been for the previous two years, with increases in 
physical book issues, digital issues and computer/wi-fi sessions. 

There have been changing trends in library visits, with in person visits increasing by almost 20 
per cent compared to last year. In contrast, digital visits have been declining. This is likely to be 
associated with changing trends post Covid-19.

The overall number of people using the Trust House Recreation Centre was a similar level to 
last year. Breaking that usage down, there have been increases in the number of people using 
the gym, and a decrease in stadium use. 

All 10 Council-owned rental units and houses that were let are compliant with the healthy 
homes standards.

We were unable to report on one measure relating to the use of the recreational trails that are 
part of our parks and reserves network. Ongoing issues with faulty data loggers have meant 
we have been unable to report accurate results for the past three financial years. 

The financial performance across some of these activities has seen savings made versus 
budgets, particularly in the parks, reserves and sports fields activities (2.5 per cent). The 
Recreation Centre operations and maintenance budgets were overspent by 8.2% as electricity 
and plant maintenance costs ran at higher levels than planned.  The Cemeteries activity has 
incurred project costs as part of upgrading the environs of Riverside Cemetry that had been 
planned as capital expenditure, but have been treated as operating cost. Mawley Holiday 
Park revenue was 3.9 per cent below the plan and 11.7% below the prior year indicating more 
difficult trading environment.  Across the $104 million community facilities and activities rates 
requirement, they have come in under by 0.5 per cent. Capital expenditure projects across 
these activities are extensive in range and scale. There have been a number of underspends  
as work has progressed slower than expected. The airport upgrade had $3.8 million allowed 
as capital on runway widening and land purchase for a runway extension. Both aspects 
progressesed, with $2.2 million spent. The construction contract was underway at year end. 
Other smaller projects like upgrading sports buildings and facilities and Henley Lake water 
level management have not progressed as more work is done around the feasibility and best 
solutions for these projects. The Civic/Events facility design stage work was focussed on 
providing options and information to support consultation on this project through the Long Term 
Plan process. 
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Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Number of people 
using our library 
and archive 
reflected by overall 
library usage

Library Usage:

No less than 5 
year average 
(277,238) for 
overall library 
usage 

Usage consists 
of: 

	y Physical 
issues 

	y Digital issues 

	y Computer/ Wi-
Fi sessions 

Achieved

Library Usage: 
353,800  

	y Physical 
issues:  
193,727  

	y Digital issues: 
60,068  

	y Computer/Wi-
Fi sessions: 
100,005   

Achieved

Library Usage: 
324,662 

	y Physical 
issues: 
187,344 

	y Digital issues: 
52,431 

	y Computer/Wi-
Fi sessions: 
84,887 

Not achieved

Library Usage: 
278,960 

	y Physical 
issues: 
182,546 

	y Digital issues: 
44,838 

	y Computer/
Wi-Fi 
sessions: 
51,576 

Number of people 
using our library 
and archive 
reflected by 
number of visits.

Library visits: 

No less than 5 
year average 
(245,616) for 
number of visits 
to the library 
and archive 

Visits consist of: 

	y In-person 
visits 

	y Digital1 

	y Housebound   

Achieved

Library visits: 
271,519 

	y In-person: 
117,847 

	y Digital: 
152,808 

	y Housebound: 
864

Achieved

Library visits: 
329,929 

	y In-person: 
99,132 

	y Digital: 
229,709 

	y Housebound: 
1,088

Achieved

Library visits: 
363,490 

	y In-person: 
83,400 

	y Digital: 
278,944 

	y Housebound: 
1,146

Percentage of 
Council parks 
and open spaces 
urgent customer 
service requests 
that are resolved 
within 4 work 
hours.  

90 per cent 
resolved within 
4 work hours. 

Achieved

100 per cent 
responded to 
within 4 hours. 

All 20 urgent 
requests 
have been 
responded to 
within 4 hours. 

Achieved

94 per cent 
responded to 
within 4 hours. 

46 out of 
49 urgent 
requests were 
responded to 
within 4 hours.  

Achieved

96 per cent 
responded to 
within 4 hours.  

54 out of 
56 urgent 
requests were 
responded to 
within 4 hours.  

Our performance in detail
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Number of 
people using the 
recreational trails 
that are part of 
our parks and 
reserves network 

No less than 4 
year average 
for recreational 
trails usage total 

N/A – Not 
available to 
report2

N/A – Not 
available to 
report2

N/A – Not 
available to 
report2

Number of people 
using the Trust 
House Recreation 
Centre  

No less than 5 
year average 
(123,364)
for overall 
Trust House 
Recreation 
Centre usage 
total 

Usage consists 
of: 

	y Swim: 82,366

	y Gym: 28,383

	y Stadium 
Sports: 3,844

	y Stadium 
Events: 8,771

Achieved

Usage: 150,349 

	y Swim: 101,382 

	y Gym: 34,843 

	y Stadium 
Sports: 4,402

	y Stadium 
Events: 9,722

Achieved

Usage: 152,095

	y Swim: 106,191 

	y Gym: 27,687 

	y Stadium 
Sports: 5,830 

	y Stadium 
Events: 
12,387

Achieved

Usage: 99,899

	y Swim: 65,357  

	y Gym: 25,214  

	y Stadium 
Sports: 3,717

	y Stadium 
Events: 5,601

Compliance with 
the healthy homes 
standards3 for 
Council-owned 
rental units and 
houses. 

Applies to all 
Council rental 
units/houses: 

All units/houses 
comply with 
the healthy 
home standards 
(or have 
exemptions). 

Achieved

100 per cent

Ten units were 
let and all 
ten were full 
compliant at the 
time of lease. 

Achieved

100% per cent

Five units 
were let and 
all five were 
fully compliant 
at the time of 
lease 

Not achieved

83.3% per cent

Six units were 
let and five 
were fully 
compliant 
at the time 
of lease.  
The non-
compliance 
was addressed 
within the same 
quarter. 

Notes:
1  Digital visits include website, OPAC and social media.
2 �This measure was set as part of the 2021-31 Long-Term Plan process.  At that time, data loggers were recording the number of 

people using the recreational trails. However, over the past two years we have been unable to report results due to ongoing 
issues with the data loggers that have not been permanently resolved 

3 https://www.legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/2019/0088/latest/whole.html
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Our service in action
Celebrating together: Developing community spirit through inclusive family-
friendly events 
Following the challenges of COVID-19, the Council recognised the need to foster community 
spirit and create opportunities to reconnect and celebrate together. This vision materialised 
through the Council’s community event programme, led by the Community Development team, 
which includes three signature events: the popular Halloween festivities, the cherished Christmas 
Parade, and a newly introduced Whānau Day as part of the Waitangi Day celebrations in 2024. 
Halloween has become a staple in the district, transforming Queen Elizabeth Park into a fun 
and safe environment where families can enjoy the thrills of the season. In 2023, the festivities 
grew to include Coronation Hall, the green space around Queen Elizabeth Park Island (aka 
Halloween Island) and a new Haunted House thanks to Wai Techs. With decorations, face 
painting, roaming Halloween characters, spot prizes for best dressed, and a focus on inclusivity, 
this event has successfully drawn families out of their homes to experience the community in 
a vibrant, engaging way. It’s more than just a night of costumes and candy; it’s a chance for 
people of all ages to connect and appreciate all our place has to offer. 
The Christmas Parade, a long-standing tradition, holds a special place in the hearts of 
the community. It’s not just an event but a shared experience that spans generations. 
Grandparents, parents, and children come together, reminiscing about parades of the 
past while creating new memories. The parade reflects the community’s values—family, 
togetherness, and celebration. It showcases local talent, businesses, and the spirit of the 
season, making it a highlight of the year for many. 
In 2024, in partnership with iwi, the Council introduced Whānau Day on Saturday, 3 February, 
as a meaningful addition to the community’s Waitangi Day programme. This event was carefully 
designed to honour the day’s significance while remaining accessible and enjoyable for 
everyone. It was crucial that Whānau Day respected the occasion, serving as a platform for the 
wider community to learn about the Treaty of Waitangi while also providing a space for families 
to gather and enjoy Council facilities at no cost. The day featured free all-day access to the Trust 
House Recreation Centre Pools, the Queen Elizabeth Park miniature train and paddle boats on the 
Lake of Remembrance, along with a sausage sizzle and music.  
The success of these events has been a source of pride for the Council, particularly the Community 
Development team, which has seen the positive impact of their efforts in the high levels of 
community engagement and support. These events have not only brought people together but 
have also highlighted our beautiful spaces and the vibrancy of local businesses. Looking ahead, the 
Community Development team is eager to build on this success, continuing to innovate and expand 
these events to ensure they remain a cornerstone of community life for years to come.
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Cost of service statement
PPaarrkkss,,  RReesseerrvveess  &&  SSppoorrttssffiieellddss

TTrruusstt  HHoouussee  RReeccrreeaattiioonn  CCeennttrree
     2022/23     2023/24     2023/24

     Actual      Actual         Budget
      $ Operating Costs       $       $

1,065,688        Recreation centre operating costs* 1,363,998 1,260,783
552,485           Depreciation 558,344 554,771

1,618,173 1,922,342 1,815,554
Operating Revenue

31,592             Miscellaneous facility revenue 173,425 152,000
Appropriations

-                         Transfers from reserves (75,000)            (15,000)          
12,000              Transfers to reserves 42,382             -                  
29,347              Loan repayments 30,312             30,313           

(245,000)          Depreciation not rates funded (175,000)          (175,000)        
$1,382,927 Rates Requirement $1,571,612 $1,503,867

* Costs are net of user charge recoveries which go to the facility management contractor.

CCeemmeetteerriieess
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LLiibbrraarryy  &&  AArrcchhiivvee

PPrrooppeerrttyy



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 68 

  

63

MMaasstteerrttoonn  AAiirrppoorrtt  ((HHoooodd  AAeerrooddrroommee))

CCoommmmuunniittyy  FFaacciilliittiieess  &&  PPaarrkkss
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CCoommmmuunniittyy  FFaacciilliittiieess  &&  PPaarrkkss
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CCoommmmuunniittyy  FFaacciilliittiieess  &&  PPaarrkkss    ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))
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MANA WHAKARITERITE
REGULATORY SERVICES  

What we do 
We plan for Masterton’s future by ensuring development is sustainable, our natural and physical 
heritage is protected, and public health and safety is preserved and promoted. This activity 
involves delivering on our responsibilities under legislation, including:

	y resource management and planning

	y building control

	y environmental health, alcohol licensing and parking control

	y animal control

	y financial contributions and staffing support for civil defence and emergency management 
provided by the Wellington Region Emergency Management Office (WREMO). 

The Wairarapa Recovery Office (WRO) was established following the North Island Weather 
Events (NIWE) of early 2023 to coordinate recovery efforts across the three district councils in 
the region (Masterton, Carterton and South Wairarapa).
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Why we do it
Regulatory services contribute to community wellbeing in several ways. We provide regulatory 
services to support sustainable development and to promote public health and safety.

Through the District Plan we support the management, appropriate use, development and 
protection of the district’s natural and physical resources, including our heritage.

Our building and planning activities contribute to economic development by facilitating 
development outcomes, planning ahead for future growth and supporting the safety of 
buildings in our district.

Our support for Civil Defence and Emergency Management contributes to planning for 
resilience, responding in an emergency and recovery after an event.

Our regulatory services also support community health and safety through a mix of education, 
community engagement and enforcement activities.

Our highlights from the year
Resource Management and Planning

	y Progressed the review of the operative Wairarapa Combined District Plan with the proposed 
District Plan notified on 11 October 2023 and hearings started in mid-2024.

Building services

	y Completed the first full round of inspections of swimming pools in the district, inspecting all 
accessible pools.

	y Completed 541 building consents.

	y Kept up to date with Building Warrant of Fitness.

	y Improved staff competency and efficiencies.

	y Improved timeliness of service), with the majority of inspections for Code of Compliances 
undertaken within two to three days.

Environmental Health, Alcohol Licensing and Bylaws (including Parking Services)

	y Completed a very successful Quality Management System Audit maintaining our high level for 
quality food verification service.

	y Completed a Parking Study to review the Council’s public parking assets and existing 
capacity across Masterton to inform how parking will be managed in the future (see “Our 
service in action: Balancing demand”).

Animal Services

	y Progressed the development of a new animal shelter.

	y Completed 17 education events including: “Hounds at Henley” microchipping event, “Dogs in 
Togs” and 15 school education talks about being safe around dogs. Staff noted that when out 
in public with their own dog children are asking permission before patting the staff members 
dog without being prompted.

Civil Defence and Emergency Management

	y Continued to support the community to be resilient and prepared to respond and recover 
from emergency events.
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Wairarapa Recovery Office

	y Continued to work closely with government agencies and rural sector, community and iwi 
organisations to support individuals, whānau and communities that were impacted by North 
Island weather events. This included managing and distributing funding to provide practical 
support and foster community wellbeing. Specific initiatives included support for fencing 
repair schemes, funding a rural health nurse to provide health checks and referrals at farming 
and community events, and supporting community-led initiatives such as planting days and a 
rural community kitchen’s food packages.

	y Continued to work with WREMO on activities to equip and prepare communities to recover 
from future disasters. This included installing water tanks, AEDs and additional wireless 
capability to community halls and marae that provide assistance during emergency events.

	y Developed and implemented the Future of Severely Affected Locations (FOSAL) Voluntary 
Buy-out and Relocation Programme for the Masterton district. The programme was 
established to support owners of land assessed as being no longer safe to live on due to 
the risk to life from future flooding. Under the funding programme, the Government and 
the Council each contribute 50 per cent towards the cost of buying out these properties 
(deemed Category 3), after insurance, EQC and other payments have been deducted. Some 
landowners also have the option to relocate their residential dwellings to another part of the 
property that is not Category 3 land. In addition to assisting impacted landowners, the one-
off programme aims to ensure residential dwellings are not built on this land in the future, to 
remove any further risk to life during severe weather events. The programme will continue to 
be implemented over the 2024/25 year, with all buy-out and relocation settlements required 
to be completed by 30 June 2025. 

Our performance at a glance

We achieved all eight regulatory services measures. 

The Animal Control team completed 15 school educational visits in April, lifting the total number 
of community education sessions to 17 (exceeding the target of 6). 

The proportion of Priority 1 urgent call outs (e.g. dog attacks) that were attended to within one 
hour was reduced compared to previous years but still within target (90.1 per cent in 2023/24 
compared to 95.3 per cent in 2022/23).

Across consents, a higher proportion of resource and building consents, and code of 
compliance certificates were processed within statutory timeframes compared to previous 
years. 

20% 40% 60% 80% 100%0%

Measures achieved Measures not achieved

8
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Reserves and infrastructure contributions from developers were $1.34 million compared to the 
$2.55 million in the prior year, reflecting a reduction from the high levels of subdivision activity 
over the prrevious three years. (Note: Roading contributions are recorded against the Roading 
activity).  Revenue from resource consents at $0.39 million is 20 per cent above planned and 
includes cost recovery for hearings. Work on the Wairarapa Combined District Plan continued 
during the year, with MDC’s share being $0.398 million (prior year $0.526 million). Building 
development income of $1.23 million was close to planned and 14.7 per cent less than the prior 
year, reflecting the decline from the high level of activity in residential building. Operating costs 
were 5 per cent less than planned reflecting efficiencies as consent volumes declined.  Parking 
Control revenue is close to planned, but costs of enforcement and meter maintenance have 
exceeded plan by 7.6 per cent. Animal Services costs have exceeded plan by 6.3 per cent 
while revenue (including dog fees) has fallen 1.7 per cent short of planned. Staffing levels in 
this area now reflect the level of service needs (including after-hours call-outs) and health and 
safety standards.  Included in this report is a new activity of Council - Weather Events Recovery.  
It was not budgeted, but it’s financial performance is able to be reported separately, with $1.1 
million of costs incurred, all funded by grants from either central Government or charitable 
grants.  
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Measure Target 2023/24 
Result

2022/23 
Result

2021/22 
Result

Response time 
to attend Priority 
1 urgent call outs 
(e.g. dog attacks).

90% per cent                          
attended within             
one hour

Achieved

90.1 per cent

(139 out of 153 
attended on 
time)

Achieved

95.3 per cent

(162 out of 170 
attended on 
time)

Achieved

94 per cent

(141 out of 150 
attended on 
time)

Response time 
to attend noise 
control call outs.

90% per cent                          
attended within             
one hour

Achieved

95 per cent

(594 out of 625 
attended within 
one hour). 

Achieved

93 per cent

(573 out of 616 
attended within 
one hour). 

Achieved

93.7 per cent

(687 out of 733 
attended within 
one hour). 

Number of animal 
control community 
education and 
engagement 
activities.

A minimum of 
6 per annum                       
related to high 
priority issues or 
concerns

Achieved

(17 education/ 
engagement 
activities

Achieved

(8 education/ 
engagement 
activities

Achieved

(8 education/ 
engagement 
activities

Percentage of 
resource consents 
processed 
within statutory 
timeframes1

90 per cent Achieved

96.9 per cent

(155 out of 160 
processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Achieved

92.2 per cent

(142 out of 154 
processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Achieved

93 per cent

(210 out of 226 
processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Percentage of 
building consents 
processed 
within statutory 
timeframes2

90 per cent Achieved

92.5 per cent

(518 out of 560 
processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Not achieved

83 per cent

(538 out of 
649 processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Not achieved

58.2 per cent

(477 out of 832 
processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Percentage of 
code compliance 
certificates 
processed 
within statutory 
timeframes2

90 per cent Achieved

94.2 per cent

(490 out of 
520 processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Achieved

90 per cent

(520 out of 
577 processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Not achieved

75 per cent

(400 out of 
533 processed 
within statutory 
timeframes)

Our performance in detail



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 76 

  

71

Percentage 
of commercial 
Building Warrant of 
Fitness’ (BWOFs) 
that have been 
reviewed within 20 
days of their due 
date.

90 per cent Achieved

100 per cent

Achieved

100 per cent

Achieved 
90 per cent 
compliance 
across 387 
BWOF.

Proportion of 
known residential 
swimming pools 
that have been 
inspected.

The year 3 
target is 80 per 
cent

The year 1 target 
was 25 per cent

The year 2 
target was 50 
per cent

Target changes 
from Year 4:

Years 4-10: 
cycle to be 
repeated but 
ensuring 100 
per cent of 
pools have 
been re-
inspected by 
the end of Years 
6 and 9. 

Achieved

96 per cent 
inspected

82 per cent 
of total pools 
compliant 

310 inspections 
undertaken3.

Not achieved

48 per cent 
inspected

39 per cent 
of total pools 
compliant 

508 
inspections 
undertaken.

Not achieved

3 per cent 
inspected

28 inspections 
undertaken.

Notes:
1  �The statutory timeframe differs depending on the nature of the notified resource consent. The applicable statutory timeframes 

relating to this measure are included in Part 6 of the Resource Management Act 1991.
2 �The time it takes to process consents is measured according to MBIE and IANZ guidelines as to the correct application of the 

Building Act 2004 and the Resource Management Act 1991 about when timing starts and stops.
3 Seventeen pools could not be accessed for inspection. Letters sent to owners requesting access to their pools. 
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Our service in action
Balancing demand: Insights from Masterton’s 2023 parking study
In 2023, the Council completed a survey of parking to support decision-making on parking-
related issues concerning our growing population and aging parking infrastructure. The study 
aimed to evaluate current parking performance, explore meter replacement options, and 
improve community outcomes. 

The Council’s parking inventory includes 2,065 public spaces (1,228 on-street and 837 off-
street) and approximately 1,900 private spaces. Council-managed spaces represent about 52 
per cent of the total public parking.

Using mobile license plate recognition technology, the study gathered data across key areas in 
November 2023. Surveys conducted every two hours revealed a peak parking demand of 72 
per cent in the town centre. High demand (over 90 per cent) was noted at some fringe off-street 
car parks, while the Horseshoe and QE Park car parks saw minimal use. Residential streets on 
the outskirts did not experience significant commuter spillover.

The study confirmed that parking demand is below the industry standard of 85 per cent peak 
occupancy, indicating sufficient availability. As part of the 2025/26 Annual Plan, the Council 
will explore options with the community on upgrading our parking infrastructure, including how 
charging and enforcement will work. Future long-term options include mobility park provisions 
and potential options for seniors. 

By balancing demand management with improved efficiency, the Council aims to enhance the 
parking experience for Masterton’s residents. This proactive approach will position the town for 
better parking management and increased community satisfaction in the future.
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Cost of service statement
RReessoouurrccee  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  &&  PPllaannnniinngg

  BBuuiillddiinngg  DDeevveellooppmmeenntt

EEnnvviirroonnmmeennttaall  SSeerrvviicceess
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PPaarrkkiinngg  CCoonnttrrooll

AAnniimmaall  SSeerrvviicceess

EEmmeerrggeennccyy  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt

WWeeaatthheerr  EEvveennttss  RReeccoovveerryy
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RReegguullaattoorryy  SSeerrvviicceess

RReegguullaattoorryy  SSeerrvviicceess

ALCOHOL ACT AND ALCOHOL LICENSING
The figures reported below are included within the Environmental Services Statement (above) and provide more 
breakdown of the Alcohol Act enforcement activities costs. Separate disclosure below is per the requirements of 
Sale and Supply of Alcohol (Fees) Regulations 2013 s19 (1). 
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MANA WHAKAHAERE ME NGĀ RATONGA ŌKAWA
LEADERSHIP, STRATEGY AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES   

What we do 
Services activity provides strategic direction and leadership to the Council and our community. 
It enables democratic decision-making that is open, transparent and accountable, and supports 
the effective and efficient operation of all Council activities. 

This includes working with iwi, consulting with the community on key decisions, running the local 
body election process every three years and pursuing strategic objectives for our community. 

The corporate activity supports the organisation through various professional services 
including human resources, communications, finance, IT, policy and strategic planning, 
corporate planning and reporting, project management, elected member support, general 
administration and senior management.

Why we do it 
Leadership, Strategy and Corporate Services gives long-term strategic direction to Council, 
ensuring all activities are working towards the common goal defined in our vision and our 
community outcomes. This is also the mechanism by which the community can engage in 
decision-making and hold Council accountable. Corporate services provide advice and support 
that enables the efficient delivery of all activities.
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Our highlights from the year
	y Adopted the 2024-34 Long-Term Plan following extensive public participation that saw 836 
people taking the opportunity to complete a submission, and 78 participating in hearings held 
over 22-24 May 2024. (See Our service in action: Super Engaged).

	y Reviewed Council’s key financial policies, including the Revenue and Financing Policy. The 
review considered and invited community feedback on matters such as the fairest way to 
share the costs of Council services among users and ratepayers, and which sectors of the 
community should contribute and how.

	y Reviewed and consulted on the Rates Remission and Postponement on Māori Freehold Land 
Policy to ensure it aligned with changes made by the local Government (Rating of Whenua 
Māori) Amendment Act 2021 to reduce rating barriers for Māori landowners.

	y Continued to represent Council and our community on workstreams led by the Wellington 
Regional Leadership Committee, including the Regional Climate Change Impact Assessment 
and Adaptation Plan, Regional Economic Development Plan, Industrial Land Study and Food 
Systems Strategy.

	y Continued to convene meetings of our community advisory groups including the Climate 
and Rural Advisory Groups and Youth Council and sought expressions of interests to from 
community members to join our Disability Advisory Group. 

	y Approved 12 designated climate change community funds as part of the District Climate 
Change Action Plan.

	y Commenced work on an application to extend the existing Wairarapa Dark Sky Reserve to 
include Masterton. 

	y Received approval from Crown Law and the Solicitor-General to apply to the High Court to 
sell or lease the vacant land next to Panama Village.

	y Partnered with iwi entities to strengthen our cultural competency including improving 
pronunciation of local place names, coordinating professional development for Te Reo Māori 
speaking staff, and guiding staff representation at events held on Marae.

	y Continued to engage with Post Settlement Governance Entities (PSGE), hapū, and marae 
to address various matters of significance to Māori, including developing Memorandums of 
Partnership.

	y Supported the implementation of Wairarapa Economic Development Strategy with  
$100,000 funding.

	yWorked alongside South Wairarapa and Carterton District Council to prepare and consult on 
a joint gambling policy for adoption in early 2024/25. The Policy aims to prevent any increase 
in gaming machines (pokies) and limits movement of existing machines, while preventing the 
set-up of any standalone TAB venues.

	y Progressed work in relation to the legislative change in April 2024 concerning Māori Wards. 
On 31 July, our Council decided to retain a Māori ward for the 2025 election and to hold a poll 
alongside the election. In making this decision, the Council engaged with the governance 
members of the four local iwi entities (Kahungunu ki Wairarapa, Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa 
Iwi Development Trust, Rangitāne o Wairarapa, and Rangitāne Tū Mai Rā Trust).
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Our performance at a glance
Every year Council produces an Annual Report that informs our community about what has 
been achieved and how well we performed against the plans and budgets that were set for  
that year. 

In addition, there is regular reporting to the Senior Leadership Team and Council on progress 
with work and projects in this activity group, and once every three years Council undertakes 
a Community Satisfaction Survey that includes questions about Council’s leadership and 
reputation. This survey was last done in 2022/23 and is not included in this year’s Annual 
Report. 

Operating costs across the corporate areas at $8.5 million were 3.7 per cent less than planned.
The value of support servives allocated internally was $5.7 million which was 9.8 per cent less 
than the level planned.  The well-being activities of Council have all performed close to their 
budgeted levels.  
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Our service in action
Super engaged: How Masterton’s Long-Term Plan consultation captivated the 
community and scooped up an award
Engaging a community in long-term planning can be challenging, especially when many issues 
have been consulted on previously. The Council’s solution for the challenge for the Long-Term 
Plan (LTP) 2024-34 was to do different things well, and familiar things better. 
By refining traditional methods and introducing new, creative tactics, the Council saw a 
remarkable 145 per cent increase in submissions, with 836 responses—far exceeding the 
previous average of around 340. This demonstrated that with fresh, innovative strategies, it is 
possible to broaden community engagement. 
The consultation document was designed to be visually appealing and accessible, using stylistic 
representations that could be not so much anyone, but everyone. Clear, concise information 
was presented alongside detailed data for those interested. A one-page summary resembling 
a newspaper page, and handy business cards with QR codes, made participation easy. The 
Council also employed creative street decals, a town crier, and engaging posters co-designed by 
Masterton Youth Councillors to reach younger audiences. An in-house TV ad following the viral 
Wes Anderson trend further expanded the reach, particularly among residents under 44. 
More than 100 hours of staff time were spent co-ordinating, supporting, and attending 30 face-to-face 
engagements. These included weekly pop-ups, like ‘Mayor in a Chair’ at the library, elected members 
answering community questions at the Thursday Night Food Markets, and a ‘town hall-style’ meeting 
about the Town Hall, that was also livestreamed to our Facebook and YouTube pages.
The Council’s efforts paid off, with a significant increase in submissions from diverse 
demographics. The inclusion of gender-diverse categories and targeted outreach to Māori and 
younger residents resulted in a more inclusive consultation. The Council’s responsiveness was 
evident in the adjustments made based on community feedback, particularly in the contentious 
decision regarding the Town Hall. The final decision balanced cost concerns with community 
desires, showing that the engagement process directly influenced the outcome.
The LTP consultation process won the SuperEngaged prize at the LGNZ’s SuperLocal Awards. 
Judges said the consultation used clear, sharp messaging and closed feedback loops to 
overcome public consultation fatigue. “It was clear that the combination of bespoke engagements 
led to significant improvement in community engagement.”
This successful engagement has set a new benchmark for future consultations, highlighting 
the importance of inclusivity, creativity, and transparency in fostering meaningful community 
participation. The Council’s commitment to listening to its residents and acting on their feedback 
ensures that Masterton’s future is shaped by the collective voice of its community.
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Cost of service statement

RReepprreesseennttaattiioonn

DDeevveellooppmmeenntt  ((SSoocciiaall,,  CCuullttuurraall,,  EEccoonnoommiicc  &&  EEnnvviirroonnmmeennttaall))
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RRooaaddiinngg  AAddvviissoorryy  SSeerrvviicceess

AAsssseett  &&  PPrroojjeecctt  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  

CCoorrppoorraattee  SSeerrvviicceess
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LLeeaaddeerrsshhiipp,,  SSttrraatteeggyy  &&  CCoorrppoorraattee  SSeerrvviicceess

LLeeaaddeerrsshhiipp,,  SSttrraatteeggyy  &&  CCoorrppoorraattee  SSeerrvviicceess
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Ā MĀTOU AHUMONI
OUR FINANCIALS
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Reporting as required by the Local Government 
(Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014

NETWORK ASSETS

RATING BASE INFORMATION

 Number of rating units within the District 13,628
 Capital Value of rating units as at 30 June 2024     $10,559 million
 Land Value of rating units as at 30 June 2024     $5,756 million
 Rates income for 2024/25 (per Annual Plan)      $46,240,000 (excl GST & capital contribution rates)
 Average rates income per rating unit     $3,393 (excl GST)

 Number of rating units within the District 13,411
 Capital Value of rating units as at 30 June 2023     $8,975 million
 Land Value of rating units as at 30 June 2023     $4,776 million
 Rates income for 2023/24 (per Annual Plan)      $41,478,694 (excl GST & capital contribution rates)
 Average rates income per rating unit     $3,093 (excl GST)

30 June 2024

30 June 2023

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2002 - FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
The Local Government Act 2002 sets out a number of disclosure requirements for Councils over and above the generally 
accepted accounting practice (GAAP) information. New disclosures were added in legislative changes and additions to 
the Local Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014.

Schedule 6 of the Regulations requires the Council to add to the information currently disclosed under GAAP, to enable 
separate disclosure for each of the five network infrastructures (water supply; sewerage; stormwater; roads and 
footpaths; and flood protection and control works). In addition, water supply and sewerage are to be separated between 
treatment plant and facilities and other assets.  Also, any asset additions are to be split between assets constructed by 
the Council and those transfered to (or vested in) the Council.
Most of the detail required to comply with these regulations can be found in Notes 12 and 13 to the Financial Statements. 
Additional information on the replacement values of network assets is disclosed below.

The Local Government Act (Amendment No.3) includes a clause 30A in Schedule 10. The information below satisfies the 
disclosure requirements of that clause and adds comparative information for the current year, value of rates income and 
average rates.

Optimised Replacement Value of network assets is as follows:

as at 30 June 2024                 $ millions
Optimised 

Replacement Values
Optimised Depreciated 

Replacement Values
  Roads, bridges & footpaths
        (includes bridges & culverts, excludes land) 809.0                                620.4                                         
  Water treatment plant & facilities - Masterton 22.0                                   8.1                                                
  Water reticulation (including rural supplies) 134.7                                  62.8                                            
  Sewerage treatment plant & facilities - Masterton 47.2                                    39.2                                            
  Sewerage reticulation - Masterton 161.5                                   85.9                                            
  Sewerage systems - rural* 19.7                                     14.0                                             
  Stormwater assets 62.0                                   35.6                                            
  Flood protection & control works 7.9                                      5.7                                               

1,264.0                         871.7                                     

Notes: - excludes land values associated with the assets. 
   - Infrastructural assets were revalued as at 30 June 2023

* Rural sewerage systems at Riversdale Beach, Castlepoint and Tinui have not been split into treatment and 
reticulation components, but the value split is estimated at 29/71 (treatment/retic) 
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INSURANCE INFORMATION

Insurance of Assets - for the year ending 30 June 2024

Asset values from Statement                            
of Financial Position                  

Carrying value 
1 July 2023  All values in $000's                  

     Property, plant and equipment 140,430            
     Infrastructural assets 962,556             
     Forestry 478                      
     Investment properties -                      

1,103,464          
Less:
     Land component of operational assets 89,583               
     Land under roads & road formation 88,076               
    177,659              

Net Non-Financial Assets (excluding land) 925,805$        

Insurance Arrangements 2023/24
Material damage cover for buildings, plant, 
contents 188,870$           

Motor vehicle insurance cover -   value
estimate 814$                   

Forestry (standing timber) cover 434$                  

Risk Sharing Arrangements

Cover for infrastructural assets as a member 
of LAPP (underground assets) 445,460$         

Cover for roading assets (subsidised) 790,602$         

Assets Self-insured

Airport runway & taxiways 6,314$                

Non-subsidised roading (CBD paving, street 
furniture, berms, car parks and street trees) 18,444$             

This is the replacement value of roading assets which are not 
subject to Waka Kotahi. The risk of damage to these assets is 
low and other than depreciation funds held, no specific 
insurance cover is provided for.

Masterton airport's runway and taxiways are not covered by 
insurance. The risk of damage is low and it is expected that in 
the event of an earthquake causing damage, the cost of repair 
would be done from Council's general reserves.

Cover spread over 5 insurers, $5k excess, covers 236 buildings 
or assets, of which 42 are insured for indemnity value only, the 
balance for full reinstatement value, contents cover totals $5.7 
million, earthquake claims are subject to higher deductibles. The 

      
Insured for market value, carrying value assumed here.

Cover for trees declared value for fire, windstorm value $17.5k, 
deductible of 1.5% of declared value

This is the replacement value (ORV) of assets listed on the LAPP 
Fund schedule for 2023/24. LAPP cover equated to three events 
at levels of $75m, $115m and $170m (at 100%), with a claim 
threshold of $600k and deductible of $240k. LAPP factor up the 
ORV for additional costs of recovery. The Government's disaster 
recovery plan commits to paying 60% of the costs of recovering 
from a disaster, with a deductible for Masterton DC of $673k 
(0.0075% of CV of the District). 

This is the replacement value of all roading assets that would be 
subject to Waka Kotahi subsidies, including bridges and culverts, 
but excluding land and formation value. The subsidy on flood and 
other roading network damage is 56%, but a sliding scale would 
see that increase depending on the severity of the event. 
Council's share of the recovery costs on these assets would be 
met from existing budgets, the flood damage fund, bridge depn 
funds, general capital funds and raising new debt (if required).

Local Government Act (Amendment No.3) clause 31A in Schedule 10 requires disclosure of information relating to the 
insurance of assets. 

The cost of the Canterbury earthquakes has highlighted the importance of good risk management and the part 
insurance and/or risk financing plays when it comes to rebuilding public assets. In many instances, Councils can provide 
services in the future only through the continuing use of their assets.  Public entities have had to think carefully about 
how they are managing their risks and how they are using the insurance and risk finance options available to them. 
Set out below is detail of the Council's insurance of assets, under the prescribed three headings.

The Council has no insurances relating to financial or intangible assets
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RATES AFFORDABILITY BENCHMARKS

2. Actual rates increases equal or are less than each 
quantified limit on rates increases.

Rates (income) affordability Rates (increases) affordability
The quantified rates increase limit is after the effect of rating 
base growth. The limit is the LGCI increase in the year, plus 
3.5% (from 2018) or 4.5% (from 2021).   Actual percentage 
increase is calculated by taking the change in revenue less the 
percentage of planned growth in the rating base. In 2021/22 
the growth has been slightly higher than planned resulting in 

   

DEBT AFFORDABILITY BENCHMARKS

The graph below compares the Council’s actual borrowing 
cost with the quantified limit: Interest expense on external 
debt not to exceed 15% of total rates income. 

(2) Operating Revenue is as per the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue & Expense - all earnings including 
financial contributions, but excluding vested assets.

BENCHMARKS - PER LG (FINANCIAL REPORTING AND PRUDENCE) REGULATIONS 2014

The Council meets the debt affordability benchmarks if its actual borrowing and borrowing costs are within the Council's 
quantified limits for borrowing, as set in the LTP.

This graph compares the Council’s actual revenue from rates, 
with the rates revenue limit forecast in the Long-Term Plan and 
Annual Plan. 

The rates revenue in 2021/22 exceeded the limit by a small amount 
as there was more growth in the rating base than the limit 
anticipated. 

The graph below compares the Council’s actual borrowing with 
the quantified limit: Net External Debt(1) not to exceed 150% of 
Total Operating Revenues(2). 

(1) Net External Debt is defined as gross external debt (aggregate 
borrowings of the council, including any capitalised finance leases 
and financial guarantees provided to third parties) less any financial 
assets (excluding trade and other receivables). 

The Council meets this benchmark if:                                                   1. 
The actual rates revenue equals or is less than each quantified 
limit on rates; and
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DEBT AFFORDABILITY BENCHMARKS (CONTINUED)

BALANCED BUDGET BENCHMARK

Notes:

ESSENTIAL SERVICES BENCHMARK

Notes:

In both 2022/23 and 2023/24 capital and renewals expenditure on 
Roading was more than depreciation due partly to expenditure on 
restoring rural roads following storm events and the replacement 
of the Colombo Road bridge.  

In 2023/24 Water supply capital and renewals of $3.9m is $1.35m 
more than depreciation.

As per the regulations, Operating Revenue definition excludes 
financial contributions, vested assets, gains on derivative 
financial instruments, and revaluations of property, plant, or 
equipment.  Operating Expenses excludes losses on derivative 
financial instruments and any losses on revaluation of property, 
plant, or equipment.

Operating expenses include the losses from writing down the 
residual values of assets that have been renewed. These write-
downs are not budgeted for or funded, hence, using the above 
definition, a small deficit result may result in any one year.

The graph to the right compares the Council’s actual borrowing 
cost with the quantified limit: Interest expense on external debt 
not to exceed 10% of total operating revenues (1). 

Essential services are: roads and footpaths, water supplies, 
sewerage systems and stormwater systems.

The graph below shows the Council’s operating revenue as a proportion of operating expenses. The Council meets this 
benchmark if its revenue equals or is greater than its operating expenses.

The graph below to the right shows the Council’s capital expenditure on network services as a proportion of depreciation 
on network services. The Council meets this benchmark if its capital expenditure on network services equals or is greater 
than depreciation on those network services.

Wasterwater renewals capital totalled $4.4m versus depreciation 
of $3.2m.

(1) Operating revenue is defined as earnings from rates, 
government grants and subsidies, user charges, interest, 
dividends, financial and other revenue but excluding vested 
assets and revaluation gains.
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DEBT SERVICING BENCHMARK

Notes:

DEBT CONTROL BENCHMARK

Notes:

OPERATIONS CONTROL BENCHMARK

Notes:
The Council's cashflow from operation's in the last two years has 
been less than planned due to variations around the spending and 
subsidy income relating to cyclone recovery work on rural roads. 
In 2023/24 a portion of the recovery work that was planned as 
capital expenditure, ended up being categorised as operating 
expenditure. 

The graph below shows the Council’s actual net cash flow from operations as a proportion of its planned net cash flow 
from operations. The Council meets the benchmark when actual net cash flow from operations equals or is greater than 
its planned net cash flow from operations.

This measure differs from the Council's  debt affordability 
benchmark as Operating Revenue definition excludes financial 
contributions, vested assets, gains on derivative financial 
instruments, and revaluations of property, plant, or equipment. 

Funds on hand (that off-set debt in the Net Debt calculation) are 
higher than planned due to better than expected financial 
contributions.

The graph on the right shows the Council’s borrowing costs as a proportion of operating revenue, as required by the 
regulations. The benchmark to stay within is 10%.

The following graph displays the Council’s actual net debt as a proportion of planned net debt (per the last AP). The 
Council meets the debt control benchmark if its actual net debt equals or is less than its planned net debt.
In this statement, net debt means financial liabilities less 
financial assets (excluding trade and other receivables). 

Delays in some capital projects have resulted in debt being below 
the level planned and funds on hand are higher than planned 
(reserve funds not drawn on).

The decline in the last three years has been the result of a lower 
level of capital expenditure funded by debt and better interest 
earned on investments.
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Funding impact statements 
As per the Local Government Act 2002 (Schedule 10, sec 26), the Council is required to 
produce an audited funding impact statement for the Council and for each group of activities, 
comparing the information in the required format with the Long-Term Plan. Set out below, and 
on the following 10 pages, are the funding impact statements in the required format. Annual 
Plan, Long-Term Plan, and prior year comparatives are shown where required. 
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2023/24 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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Notes to the financial statements 
Statement of Accounting Policies for the year ended 30 June 2024

Reporting Entity
The Council is a Territorial Authority governed by the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA). The 
council was constituted on 1 November 1989 pursuant to the Local Government (Wellington 
Region) Reorganisation Order 1989. The Council consists of a single operating entity with 
no subsidiaries or associates, which provides local infrastructure, local public services, and 
performs regulatory functions for the community. The Council’s primary objective is to provide 
goods and services for the community or social benefit, rather than making a financial return. 
Accordingly, the Council has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for financial 
reporting purposes.

The financial statements of the Council are for the year ended 30 June 2024. The financial 
statements were authorised for issue by the Council on 4th December 2024.

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and the accounting 
policies have been applied consistently throughout the year.

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements of the Council have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the LGA Part 6, Section 98 and Part 3 of Schedule 10, and the Local 
Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014 (LG(FRP)R), which includes 
the requirements to comply with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ 
GAAP). These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with, and comply with, 
Tier 1 PBE Accounting Standards. These standards are based on International Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (IPSAS), with amendments for the New Zealand environment.

Measurement Base
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, modified by the 
revaluation of land and buildings, infrastructural assets, investment property, forestry assets, 
library books and certain financial instruments (including derivative instruments). The 
accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of the Council is New Zealand dollars. The financial statements 
are presented in New Zealand dollars and are rounded to the nearest dollar. Some Note 
disclosures use values rounded to the nearest thousands ($000s).

New Amendment Applied - PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows
An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows requires entities to provide 
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. 
No new information has been required by this amendment as the council does not have finance 
leases, a reconciliation has been provided for secured borrowings and the non-cash movement 
for accrued interest is trivial.
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New Standards Issued and Effective 
There have been no new standards implemented in preparing the 2024 financial statements.

Changes in Accounting Policies
There have been no other changes in accounting policies during the financial year as a 
consequence of changes in accounting standards.

Summary of significant accounting policies 
Goods and Services Tax
Items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and 
payables, which are presented on a GST inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input 
tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the IRD is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of 
financial position. The net GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the GST relating 
to investing and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of 
cashflows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.
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Budget Figures
The budget figures are those approved by the Council in its 2023-24 Annual Plan. The budget 
figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting policies that are 
consistent with those adopted by the council in preparing these financial statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, estimates and assumptions have been made 
concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the actual results. 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations or future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

The significant estimates and assumptions that have the greatest risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are:

	y Estimating the fair value of land, buildings and infrastructural assets – see Note 12

	y Estimating the retirement gratuity obligations - see Note 21

	y Estimating the landfill closure and aftercare provision – see Note 23

Critical judgements exercised by management in applying accounting policies:

	y Classification of investment property - Note 16

	y Infrastructural assets - there are a number of estimates and assumptions exercised when 
valuing infrastructural assets using the depreciated replacement cost method. These include:

	- Estimating any obsolescence or surplus capacity of the asset.

	- Estimating the replacement cost of the asset. The replacement cost is derived from recent 
construction contracts in the region for similar assets.

	- Estimates of the remaining useful life over which the asset will be depreciated. These estimates 
can be affected by the local conditions. For example, weather patterns and traffic growth. If 
useful lives do not reflect the actual consumption of the benefits of the asset, then the council 
could be over- or under-estimating the annual depreciation charge recognised as an expense 
in the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense. To minimise this risk, infrastructural 
asset lives have been determined with reference to the NZ Infrastructural Asset Valuation and 
Depreciation Guidelines published by the National Asset Management Steering Group and have 
been adjusted for local conditions based on past experience. Asset inspections, deterioration 
and asset condition-modelling are also carried out regularly as part of asset management 
planning activities, which provides further assurance over useful life estimates.

	y Classification of Property

	- The council owns a number of properties, which are maintained primarily to provide housing 
to pensioners. The receipt of market-based rental from these properties is incidental to 
holding these properties. These properties are held for service delivery objectives as part 
of the council’s senior housing policy. These properties are accounted for as property, plant 
and equipment.

	y Urban Wastewater Resource Consent and Treatment Plant Upgrade

	- The Council has worked through the process of renewing its resource consent for its 
wastewater treatment and disposal facility and constructed a new plant between 2010 
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and 2015. Over the previous 14 years, costs relating to the options analysis, consultation, 
concept design and resource consent application process, have been capitalised as 
intangible assets – recognising the one-off costs of gaining the consent. In December 
2009 the Council was granted a consent, based on a proposed scheme, for 25 years. The 
capitalised costs of the consent have been assumed to be written off over the 25-year life 
of the consent.      

	y Judgement relating to Water Services Reform Programme

	- Since 2021 central government has been proceeding with three waters service delivery 
reforms, initially using a legislated “all in” approach, and since October 2023 using 
legislation that requires Councils to produce a water services delivery plan by September 
2025. Council continues to recognise its three waters assets at 30 June 2024 in accordance 
with the accounting policies set out below.  There has been no adjustment in these financial 
statements to reflect any future transfer of assets and debt to a new water entity.  It is 
expected central government will continue to develop details around the regulatory regime 
that any new entity will operate under.  As further details are established this may require 
adjustments to Council’s three water assets either in respect of disclosure or measurement.  

Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. The specific 
accounting policies for significant revenue items are explained below.

Rates Revenue
Rates are set annually by resolution and according to the processes required under the LGA 
and the LG (Rating) Act 2002 and they relate to a financial year. All ratepayers are invoiced 
within the financial year to which the rates have been set. 

Rates revenue is recognised when payable. Rates arising from late payment penalties are 
recognised as revenue when rates become overdue. Rates remissions are recognised as a 
reduction of rates revenue when the council applies the remission to the rates accounts of 
those properties which qualify for the remissions, as per the remissions policy.

Rates collected on behalf of the Greater Wellington Regional Council (GWRC) are not 
recognised in the financial statements, as the council is acting as an agent for GWRC.

Other Revenue
Most water billing revenue is recognised on an accrual basis. Some revenue from low use 
metered properties is recorded in the month invoiced. Parking and dog control infringements 
are recognised when infringement notices are issued.

The council receives government grants from the New Zealand Transport Agency, which 
subsidises part of the council’s costs in maintaining the local roading infrastructure. The 
subsidies are recognised as revenue upon entitlement as conditions pertaining to eligible 
expenditure have been fulfilled.

Other grants are recognised as revenue when they become receivable, unless there is an 
obligation in substance to return the funds if conditions of the grant are not met. If there is such 
an obligation, the grants are initially recorded as grants received in advance and recognised as 
revenue when conditions of the grant are satisfied.

Revenue from the providing of services (e.g. building consent fees) is recognised by reference 
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to the stage of completion of the transaction at balance date, based on the actual service 
provided as a percentage of the total services to be provided. Sales of goods and services (e.g. 
transfer station fees) are recognised when a product or service is sold to the customer. Sales 
are usually in cash or by credit account.

Where a physical asset is acquired for nil or nominal consideration, the fair value of the asset 
received is recognised as revenue. Assets vested in the council are recognised as revenue 
when control over the asset is obtained.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividends are recognised 
when the right to receive payment has been established. 

Donated and bequeathed financial assets are recognised as revenue unless there are 
substantive use or return conditions. A liability is recorded if there are substantive use or return 
conditions and the liability released to revenue as the conditions are met (e.g. as the funds are 
spent for the nominated purpose).

For Financial Contributions, the revenue recognition point is at the latter of the point when the 
council is ready to provide the service for which the contribution was levied, or the event that 
will give rise to a requirement for a development or financial contribution under the legislation 
or Council’s operative District Plan. Financial contributions revenue is shown separately on the 
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. Those contributions that are required as 
a nominal contribution towards specific future work are recognised as revenue and held as part 
of special funds (equity).

Classification of Revenue
Revenue may be derived from either exchange or non-exchange transactions. Assets and 
revenues arising from exchange and non-exchange transactions are recognised in accordance 
with the requirements of PBE IPSAS 23 while revenue from exchange transactions in 
accordance with PBE IPSAS 9.

Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions arises where the council provides goods or services to 
another entity or individual and directly receives approximately equal value in a willing arm’s 
length transaction (primarily in the form of cash in exchange).

Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions
Revenue from non-exchange transaction arises when the council receives value from another 
party without giving approximately equal value directly in exchange for the value received.

Approximately Equal Value
Approximately equal value is considered to reflect a fair or market value, which is normally 
commensurate with an arm’s length commercial transaction between a willing buyer and willing 
seller. Some goods or services that Council provides (e.g. the sale of goods at market rates) 
are defined as being exchange transactions. Only a few services provided by the council 
operate on a full user-pays, cost-recovery or breakeven basis and these are considered to be 
exchange transactions unless they are provided at less than active and open market prices. 
Most of the services that the council provides for a fee are subsidised by rates and therefore 
do not constitute an approximately equal exchange. Accordingly, most of the council’s revenue 
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is categorised as non-exchange. Due to the volume of transactions, classifying revenue as 
exchange or non-exchange is on a broad category basis where the deciding factor is the 
nature of the main proportion of transactions within any revenue stream.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Grant Expenditure
Non-discretionary grants are those grants that are awarded if the grant application meets 
the specified criteria and are recognised as expenditure when an application that meets the 
specified criteria for the grant has been received. Discretionary grants are those grants where 
the Council has no obligation to award on receipt of the grant application and are recognised 
as expenditure when a successful applicant has been notified of the council’s decision.

Income Tax
Income tax expense in relation to the surplus or deficit for the period comprises current tax and 
deferred tax. Generally, the council’s structure and activities mean no income tax is applicable.

Finance Leases
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred. Currently the 
Council has no Finance Leases.  If we did, the accounting treatment is as follows.

At the commencement of the lease term, the council recognises finance leases as assets and 
liabilities in the statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item 
or the present value of the minimum lease payments. The finance charge is charged to the 
surplus or deficit over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over 
its useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether the council will obtain ownership at the end 
of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful 
life.

Operating Leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from date of 
acquisition, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts (if any) are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

Debtors and Other Receivables
Debtors and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 
Loans, including loans to community organisations made by the council at nil, or below market 
interest rates are initially recognised at the present value of their expected future cash flows, 
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discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar asset/investment.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The 
difference between the face value and present value of expected future cash flows of the loan 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense as a grant. A provision 
for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the council 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The 
amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the effective interest method.

Inventories
Inventories (such as spare parts and other items) held for distribution or consumption in the 
provision of services that are not supplied on a commercial basis are measured at the lower of 
cost and current replacement cost. The cost of purchased inventory is determined using the 
FIFO method.

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are measured at fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

The write down from cost to current replacement cost or net realisable value is recognised in 
the surplus or deficit in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

Financial Assets
The council classifies its financial assets into one of the following four categories: financial 
assets at fair value through surplus or deficit, held-to-maturity investments, loans and 
receivables and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs unless 
they are carried at fair value through surplus or deficit in which case the transaction costs are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the 
council commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and 
the council has transferred substantially, all the risks and rewards of ownership. The fair value 
of financial instruments, whether traded in active markets or not, is based on a market price 
valuation supplied by an investment advisor.

The four categories of financial assets are defined below.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at 
fair value through profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in 
the short term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also categorised as held for 
trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current 
assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of 
the balance sheet date. After initial recognition they are measured at their fair values. Gains 
or losses on re-measurement are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue 
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and Expense. Financial assets in this category include the investment funds managed by ANZ 
Investments Ltd.

Loans and Receivables
These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included as current assets, except for maturities greater 
than 12 months after the balance date, which are included in non-current assets. After initial 
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment. 

Gains and losses when the asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised in the surplus 
or deficit. There are no loans to community organisations made at nil or below market interest 
rates. Loans and receivables are classified as “debtors and other receivables” in the Statement 
of Financial Position.

Held to Maturity Investments
These are assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the council has 
the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses when the asset is 
impaired or derecognised are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and 
Expense.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Revenue
These are those that are not classified in any of the other categories above. They are included 
in non-current assets unless council intends to dispose of the share investment within 12 
months of balance date or if the debt instrument is not expected to be realised within 12 months 
of balance date. This category encompasses: investments that the council intends to hold long-
term, but which may be realised before maturity; and shareholdings that the council holds for 
strategic purposes. After initial recognition these investments are measured at their fair value.

Gains and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive revenue except for 
impairment losses, which are recognised in the surplus or deficit. In the event of impairment, 
any cumulative losses previously recognised in equity will be removed from equity and 
recognised in the surplus or deficit even though the asset has not been de-recognised. On de-
recognition the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive revenue 
is re-classified from equity to surplus or deficit.

Impairment of Financial Assets
At each balance sheet date, the council assesses whether there is any objective evidence that 
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Any impairment losses are recognised 
in the surplus or deficit.

Carbon Credits
The Council has classified carbon credits as financial assets. Purchased carbon credits are 
recognised at cost on acquisition and revalued annually. Free carbon credits received from the 
Crown are recognised at fair value on receipt. They are not amortised but are instead tested 
for impairment annually. They are derecognised when they are used to satisfy carbon emission 
obligations. Their value is based on the carbon price and the change in value is recognised 
through the surplus or deficit. 
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Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments
The Council uses derivative financial instruments (interest rate swaps) to manage exposure 
to interest rate risks arising from interest rate fluctuations. In accordance with its treasury 
policy, the council does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value at each balance date. The associated 
gains or losses on derivatives are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Non-Current Assets held for Sale
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction, not through continuing use. Non-current 
assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell.

Any impairment losses for write-downs of noncurrent assets held for sale are recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. Any increases in fair value (less costs to sell) are recognised up to the level of 
any impairment losses that have been previously recognised.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or 
amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to 
the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of:

	yOperational assets - these include land, buildings, landfill post closure, library books, plant 
and equipment, and motor vehicles.

	y Restricted assets - parks and reserves owned by which provide a benefit or service to the 
community and cannot be disposed of because of legal or other restrictions.

	y Infrastructure assets - the fixed utility systems owned by the council. Each asset class 
includes all items that are required for the network to function, for example sewer reticulation 
includes reticulation piping, manholes, sewer pump stations and a portion of the laterals to 
private properties.

Property, plant and equipment is shown at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it 
is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow 
to the council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised at its cost. Where an 
asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of 
acquisition.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the surplus or deficit. When 
revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in asset revaluation reserves in respect of 
those assets are transferred to retained earnings.
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Subsequent Costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the council 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than 
land, at rates that will write off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual 
values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major 
classes of assets have been estimated as follows:

Asset Useful life Depreciation 
rate

Buildings - component lives range from 2 to 100 years 1% - 50%

Plant and equipment 3 to 50 years 2%- 33.3%

Intangibles - software 4 years 25%

Motor vehicles 6.67 years 15%

Office equipment, office furniture 4 to 10 years 10% to 25%

Library books 3 to 5 years 20% to 33.3%

Infrastructural assets

Roading network

Formation (not depreciated)

Top surface (seal) 20 years 5%

Road metal (unsealed) 3 years 33%

Pavement (base course) 50 years 2%

Pavement (sub base) 80 years 1.25%

Pipe culverts 60 years 1.67%

Footpaths (basecourse) 50 years 2%

Footpaths (seal) chip/AC/concrete 40 years (average) 2.5%

Kerb and Channel 100 years 1%

Signs 15 years 6.7%

Road markings 2 years 50%

Streetlights (lamps, LED’s and poles) 15/25/50 years 6.67%, 4% and 2%

Bridges 90 years 1.11%

Other structures 50 years 2%

Water system

Treatment plant 10 to 43 years 2.3% to 10%
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Pipes (depending on material) 65 to 100 years 1.54% to 2%

Valves, hydrants & connections, meters 50, 75,20 years 2%, 1.33% and 5%

Reservoirs and tanks 50 years 2%

Sewerage System

Pipes & laterals (depending on material) 60 to 100 years 1% to 1.67%

Manholes 100 years 1%

Treatment plant 10 to 60 years 1.67% to 10%

Drainage network

Pipes 80 to 100 years 1% to 1.25%

Stopbanks 50 to 300 years 0.33% to 2%

Seawall and river weirs 80 years 1.25%

Airport runway

Pavement and seal 50 years and 17 
years

2% and 5.88%

Revaluations are conducted every three years to ensure the residual values and useful lives are 
as accurate as possible.  

Revaluation
Those asset classes that are revalued are valued on a three yearly valuation cycle on the basis 
described below. All other asset classes are carried at depreciated historical cost. The carrying 
values of revalued items are reviewed at each balance date to ensure that those values are not 
materially different to fair value.

Operational Land and Buildings
Valued at fair value as determined from market-based evidence by an independent valuer. 
The most recent valuation was performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Ltd, and the valuation is 
effective as at 30 June 2024.  Note 13 provides more detail on where an optimised depreciated 
replacement cost (ODRC) has been used and where a fair market value (FMV) has been 
deemed more appropriate.

Restricted Land and Buildings
Some land owned by the council has reserve status while other land has obligations to prior 
owners if sold. Reserve status can be revoked and land with prior obligations is not of any 
significant value. On that basis the council has not identified any of its land and buildings assets 
as restricted.
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Infrastructural Asset Classes: Roads, Water Systems, Sewerage Systems and 
Stormwater Systems
Valued at fair value determined on a depreciated replacement cost basis by an independent 
valuer.

At balance date, the council assesses the carrying values of its infrastructural assets to ensure 
that they do not differ materially from the assets’ fair values. If there is a material difference, 
then the off-cycle asset classes are revalued. A valuation was performed by WSP New Zealand 
Limited with an effective date of 30 June 2020. A fair value assessment was been provided 
by the same valuer, effective 30 June 2022 where they applied an indexing approach. A full 
revaluation has been calculated and applied as at 30 June 2023, again by WSP New Zealand 
Limited.  Other asset classes carried at valuation were revalued as below.

Land under Roads
Land under roads was valued based on fair value of adjacent land determined by Opus 
International Consultants Ltd, effective 30 June 2003. Under the previous NZ IFRS the council 
has elected to use the fair value of land under roads as at 30 June 2003 as deemed cost. Land 
under roads is no longer revalued.

Library Collections
At depreciated replacement cost in accordance with the guidelines released by the New 
Zealand Library Association and the National Library of NZ in May 2002. Library valuations 
are performed by the Library Manager and are not subject to an independent review because 
books are purchased at current market prices and these are used to determine fair value. The 
last valuation was performed in June 2023.

Accounting for Revaluations
The council accounts for revaluations of property, plant and equipment on a class of asset 
basis. The results of revaluing are credited or debited to an asset revaluation reserve for that 
class of asset in other comprehensive revenue. Where this results in a debit balance in the 
asset revaluation reserve, this balance is expensed in the surplus or deficit. Any subsequent 
increase on revaluation that off-sets a previous decrease in value recognised in the surplus or 
deficit, will be recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, 
and then credited to the revaluation reserve for that class of asset.

Intangible Assets

Software Acquisition and Development
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised as intangible assets on the basis of the 
costs incurred to acquire and use the specific software. Costs associated with maintaining 
computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred. The council has not incurred 
any costs that are directly associated with the in-house development of software for use by the 
council only. Software assets are depreciated, straight line, over four years.

Resource Consents
The Council holds resource consents for many of its activities. Where the consent has a life 
beyond one year and the costs of obtaining the consents have been identified separately 
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from the asset, the value of the consent is treated as an intangible asset and is amortised 
over its useful life. Costs associated with gaining a consent are included with the consent 
value e.g. engineering investigations, assessment of environmental effects, legal review, 
consent processing charges, hearings and appeals. The period over which the consent value 
is amortised over (straight line) is based on the life of the consent as granted by the Greater 
Wellington Regional Council (e.g. wastewater plant consent was granted is for 25 years).

Easements
While the Council holds easements for only some of its assets, no comprehensive register is 
kept, no historical cost information is available, and no attempt has been made to place a value 
on the easements held. Because easements have an indefinite useful life and are not generally 
amortised, the lack of recognition of the value does not significantly affect the financial results 
of the council.

Forestry Assets
Forestry assets are independently revalued annually. The 30 June 2024 valuation has been 
performed by Jack Palmer of Forme Consulting Group Ltd, at fair value less estimated point 
of sale costs. The valuation has been peer reviewed. Fair value is determined based on the 
present value of expected net cash flows discounted at a current market determined pre-tax 
rate.

Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of biological assets at fair value less estimated 
point of sale costs and from a change in fair value less estimated point of sale costs are 
recognised in the surplus or deficit. The costs to maintain the forestry assets are included in the 
surplus or deficit.

Investment Property
From time to time the Council has held a small number of investment properties for strategic 
purposes that have been valued at fair value as determined annually by an independent valuer. 
Gains or losses arising from a change in the fair value of investment property are recognised in 
the surplus or deficit. There are properties, not defined as investment properties, where rental 
returns are earned. These properties which are leased to third parties under operating leases, 
are owned primarily to meet service delivery objectives. Council currently holds no properties 
for investment.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are 
tested annually for impairment. Assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised as the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits 
or service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate 
net cash inflows and where the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining 
future economic benefits or service potential.

Cash-generating assets are those assets that are held with the primary objective of generating 
a commercial return.

The value in use for cash-generating assets is the present value of expected future cash flows. 
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If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is impaired and the 
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued assets the impairment 
loss is recognised against the revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that results in a 
debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Non-cash-generating assets are those assets that are not held with the primary objective of 
generating a commercial return.

For non-cash generating assets, value is determined using an approach based on either 
a depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost approach, or a service units 
approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in use depends on the 
nature of the impairment and availability of information.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit.

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to the revaluation reserve. 
However, to the extent that an impairment loss for that class of asset was previously recognised 
in the surplus or deficit, a reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in the surplus or 
deficit.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount (other than goodwill) the reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Employee Entitlements

Short-term Employee Entitlements
Employee benefits that the Council expects to be settled within 12 months of balance date are 
measured at nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to, but 
not yet taken at balance date, alternative leave owing but not taken for working on statutory 
holidays, and retiring gratuity entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months.

The Council recognises a liability for sick leave to the extent that absences in the coming year 
are expected to be greater than the sick leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The 
amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be carried forward 
at balance date, to the extent that the council anticipates it will be used by a portion of staff to 
cover those future absences.

The Council recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or 
where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Long-term Employee Entitlements
Retirement leave entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, have been calculated on 
an actuarial basis. The calculations are based on: likely future entitlements accruing to staff, 
based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that staff will reach the point of 
entitlement and contractual entitlements information, and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows. Last year a discount rate of 5.37 per cent, and an inflation factor of 2 per cent 
were used but this year the amount remaining is for only one staff member and the amount is 
current so no discount factor has been used. 

Superannuation Schemes
Defined contribution schemes: obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
superannuation schemes are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficits incurred.



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 121 

  

116

Provisions
The Council recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing 
when there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that expenditures will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to 
settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision 
due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

Financial Guarantee Contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the council to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 
payment when due.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at fair value. If a financial guarantee 
contract was issued in a stand-alone arm’s length transaction to an unrelated party, its fair 
value at inception is equal to the consideration received. When no consideration is received, 
a provision is recognised based on the probability the council will be required to reimburse 
a holder for a loss incurred, discounted to present value. The portion of the guarantee that 
remains unrecognised prior to discounting to fair value is disclosed as a contingent liability.

Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the initial recognition amount less any 
amortisation, however if the council assesses that it is probable that expenditure will be 
required to settle a guarantee, then the provision for the guarantee is measured at the present 
value of the future expenditure.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value. After initial recognition, all borrowings are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the council has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance date or if the borrowings 
are not expected to be settled within 12 months.

Equity
Equity is the community’s interest in the council and is measured as the difference between 
total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified into a number of reserves. 
The components of equity are:

	y Retained earnings

	y Special funds and restricted reserves

	y Asset revaluation reserves.

Special Funds and Restricted Reserves
These are a component of equity representing a particular use to which various parts of 
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equity have been assigned. Reserves may be legally restricted or created by the council for a 
designated purpose.

Restricted reserves are those subject to specific conditions accepted as binding by the council 
and which may not be revised by the council without reference to the Courts or a third party. 
Transfers from these reserves may be made only for certain specified purposes or when certain 
specified conditions are met.

Also included in this category are reserves restricted by Council decision. The council may alter 
them without reference to any third party or the Courts. Transfers to and from these reserves 
are at the discretion of the Council.

The Council’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital are described in Note 27.

Property Revaluation Reserves
These reserves relate to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment to fair value.

Cost Allocation
The Council has derived the cost of service for each significant activity of the council using the 
cost allocation system outlined below:

	y Direct costs are those costs directly attributable to an activity. Indirect costs are those costs, 
which cannot be identified in an economically feasible manner, with a specific significant 
activity.

	y Direct costs are charged directly to significant activities.

	y Indirect costs are charged to significant activities using an allocation model that utilises cost 
drivers such as actual usage of support services, staff numbers and rates funding required.
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Notes to the accounts
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approximately equal value in a willing arm’s length transaction (primarily in the form of cash in exchange).
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      Note 18

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions disclosed:
*

*

*

*

*

Transactions with key management personnel        2023/24        2022/23
     Councillors Remuneration $605,565 $580,481

12 12
Executive Management Team (ELT), including the Chief Executive

Remuneration $1,716,308 $1,700,291
Full-time equivalent members 8.0 9.0
Total key management personnel remuneration $2,321,873 $2,280,772
Total full-time equivalent personnel 17.0 18.0

Full-time equivalent for Councillors is taken as the eight Councillors and the Mayor. 
During the year ELT was restructured and the number reduced from nine to eight.
This excludes the independent Audit & Risk committee Chairperson where the cost is part of operating expenses.

          No. of members (incl iwi reps and rural advisory board members)

Elevate Wairarapa Community Trust (EWCT) - Cr S Lennox is a trustee. EWCT ran a music event (Summer Hummer) in March 
2024. The event was supported by the Council via two grants totalling $6,000 from the Creative Communities Scheme and a 
$10,000 allocation from Council's budget for event costs.  Cr Lennox was not part of the decision making process to award the 
grants or allocate the events budget funding.    

Digital Seniors Trust (DST) - applied for and had approved, 3 years of wellbeing grant funding in 2021/22 to the value of $15,000 
per annum. 2023/24 was the third year of that funding.   The GM Finance, David Paris is a trustee of DST.

Masterton Trust Lands Trust (MTLT) - during the year the Council had a range of dealings with MTLT. At the October 2022 
election Mayor Caffell, Cr R Johnson and Cr T Hullena were elected to the Council and MTLT.  The MTLT provided the Council's 
library activity a grant of $25,000 and the Community Development activity a grant of $5,000. In the last 12 months there have 
not been any significant decisions for Council in relation to the MTLT. 

Te Hapori Skatepark group (THS) - the group is chaired by Cr S Lennox. THS passed over to Council external grant funding of 
$5,544 (prior yr $7,965) to support Council in providing supervision at the skatepark. THS, in conjuction with Friends of QE Park 
Inc ran a music event (Summer Hummer) in Jan 2023 (prior year). In that year an event grant of $3,000 was paid to THS. A 
further $7,423 of event costs were funded from Council operating budgets to support the community event. Cr Lennox did not 
participate in the decisions to allocate the funding.

Dirtboy Limited (DbL) is a business owned by Cr C Bowyer. DbL has a contract with Council to provide grass mowing at Hood 
Aerodrome.  The contract was in place before Cr Bowyer's election.  The value paid to DbL in 2023/24 was $29,459 (prior year 
$27 857). Cr Bowyer also leases a hanger site at Hood Aerodrome and paid $5,161 (+GST) in 2023/24 (prior yr  $5,065) and he 
also paid Council $160 (+GST) for an annual landing fee for the plane ZK-CIM (and the same in 2022/23).

Masterton Community Trust & Trust House Ltd (MCT & TH) -  Cr B Johnson is an elected trustee and member of the board of TH 
Ltd.  The Council applied for and received two grants totaling $31,000 from MCT. TH Ltd sponsors the naming rights of Trust 
House recreation centre and the Council uses TH Ltd function/meeting venues on occasion.   TH Ltd operates liquor outlets, 
gaming venues and a large portfolio of social housing properties, making TH Ltd subject to Council policies in those areas and a 
significant ratepayer.  Cr Johnson has declared her conflict and not participated in decision making in relation to liquor licensing 
and gambling policy. 

During the year Councillors and staff of the Council were involved in minor transactions with the Council (such as  payment of 
rates, transfer station charges and building consents). No disclosure is made where the transactions are within a normal supplier 
or client /recipient relationship and on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to 
expect the Council would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm's length in the same circumstances. 

During the year the Council had dealings with entities where there is a direct relationship between a Councillor or senior staff 
member.  These are considered related party transactions and are monitored. The more significant relationships or values are 
disclosed below for transparency purposes. The transactions disclosed were effectively 'at arm's length'. The individuals involved 
were either not part of the decision-making process, or did not vote on the Council resolution where a decision affecting their 
interests was made.
The agendas at all Council and committee meetings include an opportunity to declare any potential conflicts of interest. The 
intention is that these parties do not unfairly influence the Council's decision. The notes below provide more detail on the more 
significant transactions and relationships.
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*Note that Pre-funded loan maturities are included in Leadership, Strategy & Corporate Services
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Land was revalued as at 30th June 2024 by Jones Lang LaSalle resulting in a $6.8 million (7.5%) loss
in fair value after taking account of additions and deletions during the same period.
Buildings were revalued as at 30th June 2024 by Jones Lang LaSalle resulting in a $19.75 million (46.2%) 
increase in depreciated replacement cost (DRC) over three years, after taking account of additions and
depreciation for the same period.
Revalued portion of  Building disposals:

Infrastructural Assets were  revalued as at 30 June 2023  by WSP resulting in a $76.54 million (8.7%) 
gain in fair value after taking account of additions and deletions during the three year period.
As part of the year end asset capitalisation process for 30 June 2024, it was picked up that some of the 
 2023 revaluation inventory detail was inadequate and needed to be corrected. The corrections have 
 resulted in a further value increase of $2.5 million (0.26%).
Revalued portion of  Infrastructural disposals:
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FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeenntt  ccaatteeggoorriieess
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

   $000    $000

FFiinnaanncciiaall  AAsssseettss     30 June 2024     30 June 2023

FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  tthhrroouugghh  ssuurrpplluuss//((ddeeffiicciitt))
    Bond funds (managed) 7,223 6,840
    Interest rate swap - assets 898 1,321
    Carbon credits 262 209

8,384 8,370
CCaasshh  DDeeppoossiittss,,  RReecceeiivvaabblleess  &&  CCoommmmuunniittyy  LLooaannss
    Debtors and other receivables 7,059 9,480
    Cash and cash equivalents 6,743 4,094
    Bank deposits - current 16,091 8,487

29,893 22,061
FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  tthhrroouugghh  ootthheerr  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  rreevveennuuee  &&  eexxppeennssee
    Corporate bonds - current 179 141
    Corporate bonds - non-current 1,329 1,046
    Unlisted shares 215 215

1,722 1,402

FFiinnaanncciiaall  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess
FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  tthhrroouugghh  ssuurrpplluuss//((ddeeffiicciitt))
    Interest rate swap - liabilities 22 0

FFiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  aatt  aammoorrttiisseedd  ccoosstt
    Trade and other payables 13,658 13,761
    Borrowings 
                     -  LGFA bonds 62,600 51,700

76,258 65,461

   $000    $000

FFiinnaanncciiaall  AAsssseettss LLeevveell     30 June 2024     30 June 2023

   Bond funds (managed) 1 7,223 6,840
   Interest rate swap - assets 2 898 1,321
   Carbon credits 2 262 209
   Corporate bonds 2 1,508 1,187
   Unlisted shares 3 215 215

FFiinnaanncciiaall  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess
    Interest rate swap - liabilities 2 22 0

There were no transfers between different levels of the fair value heirachy
There were no significant movements in relation to the level 3 assets

For those instruments recognised at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position, fair values 
are determined according to the following heirarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted market price
Level 2 - Valuation technique using observable inputs
Level 3 - Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 147 

  

142

Financial Instrument Risks
Masterton District Council (the Council) has a Treasury Management Policy in place to manage 
the risks associated with financial instruments. The Council is risk averse and seeks to minimise 
exposure from its treasury activities. The Council has established Council approved Liability 
Management and Investment policies. These policies do not allow any transactions that are 
speculative in nature to be entered into.

Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes 
in market prices. The Council is exposed to equity securities price risk on its investments, 
which are classified as financial assets held at fair value through equity and fair value through 
P & L. This price risk arises due to market movements in tradeable securities. This price risk is 
managed by diversification of the council’s investment portfolio in accordance with the limits set 
out in the council’s Investment policy.

The Council holds shares (equity instruments) in NZ Local Government Insurance Corporation 
and NZ Local Government Funding Agency, none of which are publicly traded. Change in value 
is calculated by calculating the council’s share of the reported value of the entity’s equity.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The council is not exposed to currency risk, as it does not enter into 
foreign currency transactions.

Interest rate risk
The weighted average return on the council’s investments (after fees) in the year to 30 June 
2024 was 5.74 per cent (last year 5.85 per cent) and on the Council’s borrowings (as shown in 
Note 24) the weighted average interest rate being charged at 30 June 2024 is 5.55 per cent 
(last year 4.98 per cent).

Fair value interest rate risk
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates. Borrowing issued at fixed rates exposes the council to fair 
value interest rate risk. The council’s Liability Management Policy outlines the minimum and 
maximum level of borrowing (40 per cent and 90 per cent) that is to be subject to fixed interest. 
Floating to fixed interest rate swaps have been entered into to hedge the fair value interest rate 
risk arising where the council has borrowed at floating rates.

In addition, investments at fixed interest rates expose the Council to fair value interest rate risk. 
If interest rates on investments at 30 June 2024 had fluctuated by plus or minus 1 per cent, the 
effect would have been to decrease/increase the fair value through P & L and/or equity reserve 
by $324,600 (2023 $219,300). If interest rates on borrowings at 30 June 2024 had fluctuated 
by plus or minus 1 per cent, the effect would be to decrease/increase the surplus/(deficit) in 
future periods by up to $626,000 (2023 $517,000) as a result of higher/lower interest expense 
on borrowings.
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Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Borrowings and investments issued at variable 
interest rates expose the council to cash flow interest rate risk. The Council manages its cash 
flow interest rate risk on borrowings by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest 
rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings at floating rates and swaps them 
into fixed rates that are generally lower than those available if the council borrowed at fixed 
rates directly. Under the interest rate swaps, the Council agrees with other parties to exchange, 
at specified intervals, the difference between fixed contract rates and floating-rate interest 
amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the Council, causing the 
council to incur a loss. Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the council invests 
surplus cash into term deposits. The council also holds reserve funds that are invested 
in a number of financial instruments, according to criteria in the Investment Policy. These 
investments can give rise to a credit risk. The council invests funds only in deposits with 
registered banks, local authority stock and corporate bonds of BBB credit rating or better, and 
its Investment Policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution or organisation 
and the percentage of the portfolio that can be invested in less than A rated instruments. 
Investments in other Local Authorities, via the LGFA, are secured by charges over rates. 

The council has no significant concentrations of credit risk in its general debtor assets as it has 
a large number of credit customers, mainly ratepayers, and the council has powers under the 
Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 to recover outstanding debts from ratepayers.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Council will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet 
commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient 
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities 
and the ability to close out market positions. The council aims to maintain flexibility in funding 
by keeping committed credit lines available. In meeting its liquidity requirements, the council 
maintains a prudent level of investments held short term to enable operational access to funds 
if required.

The Council manages its borrowings in accordance with its funding and financial policies, 
which includes a Liability Management Policy. These policies have been adopted as part of the 
council’s Long-Term Plan. The council is a shareholder in the NZ LGFA and has $62.6 million 
from them at 30 June 2024. There are two cash advance facilities with Westpac and ANZ. 
The maximum amount that could be drawn down using these facilities during 2023/24 was 
$10m (2023 $10m). The intent of using these types of facilities is two-fold: 1) to assist meeting 
cashflow requirements on capital projects prior to conversion to longer term debt, and 2) to 
enable floating-to-fixed interest rate risk management instruments to be used. As at 30 June 
2024 no money was drawn against the CAFs and no money was drawn down during the year 
to finance capital work (2023 $5m).

The maturity profile of the Council’s interest-bearing investments is disclosed in Note 11 with a 
split between cash, deposits of less than three months, financial assets of less than 12 months 
and financial assets with terms greater than 12 months. The table on the next page shows the 
financial assets exposed to credit risk and the credit ratings of the investments.
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MMaaxxiimmuumm  eexxppoossuurree  ttoo  ccrreeddiitt  rriisskk    $000    $000

    30 June 2024     30 June 2023

Cash at bank and term deposits 22,834 12,581
Debtors and other receivables 7,059 9,480
Derivative financial instrument assets 898 1,321
Local authority, LGFA and government stock 1,508 1,128
Corporate bonds/discounted securities/SOEs 7,223 6,898

39,522 31,409
CCrreeddiitt  qquuaalliittyy  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by 
reference to Standard & Poor's credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about 
counterparty default rates:

CCoouunntteerrppaarrttiieess  ccrreeddiitt  rraattiinnggss
CCaasshh  aatt  bbaannkk  aanndd  tteerrmm  ddeeppoossiittss AA- 20,543 10,294

Not Rated 2,291 2,287
 Total cash at bank and term deposits 22,834 12,581

GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  aanndd  LLGGFFAA  SSttoocckk
Government stock AA 0 0
LGFA AA+ 1,508 1,128
Local authority stock A 0 0

Total Government and LGFA Stock 1,508 1,128

LLiisstteedd  bboonnddss AAA 627 594
AA 6,219 5,889

A- to AA- 0 0
A+ 0 0

A 377 357
A1 & A1+ 0 0

BB+ to BBB+ 0 59
TToottaall  lliisstteedd  bboonnddss 7,223 6,898

DDeerriivvaattiivvee  ffiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeenntt  aasssseettss
AA- 898 1,321

CCoouunntteerrppaarrttiieess  wwiitthhoouutt  ccrreeddiitt  rraattiinnggss
Debtors and other receivables 7,059 9,480

7,059 9,480
  Debtors and other receivables mainly arise from the Council's statutory functions, therefore there are no 
   procedures in place to monitor or report the credit quality of debtors with reference to internal or
  external credit ratings.

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities
Note 26b contains a table which discloses the relevant maturity groupings of the Council’s 
term liabilities. The table on the next page analyses all the council’s financial liabilities based 
on the remaining period from the balance date to the contractual maturity date. Future interest 
payments on floating rate debt are based on the floating rate on the instrument at the balance 
date. The amounts disclosed are the undiscounted cash flows and include interest payments.

The table also includes the Council’s derivative financial instruments that will be settled on 
a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. A negative cashflow indicates that Council receives a net interest 
amount.
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CCoonnttrraaccttuurraall  mmaattuurriittyy  aannaallyyssiiss  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess

Carrying Contractual Less than 1 -5 years More than
amount cash flows 1 year 5 years

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
AAss  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22002233
Creditors and other payables 13,761 13,761 13,761 0 0
Net settled derivative liabilities* 0 0 0 0 0

Commited cash advances 0 0 0 0

LGFA bonds 51,700 56,765 6,538 36,810 13,417

65,461 70,526 20,299 36,810 13,417

AAss  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22002244

Creditors and other payables 13,658 13,658 13,658 0 0
Net settled derivative liabilities* 22 335 0 264 71
Commited cash advances 0 0 0 0
LGFA bonds 62,600 71,917 13,128 50,004 8,786

76,280 85,910 26,786 50,268 8,857
  * Contractual cashflow estimate is based on the variance between fixed rate and floating rate on balance date

  PPBBEE  IIPPSSAASS  3300    SSeennssiittiivviittyy  AAnnaallyyssiiss  --  3300  JJuunnee  22002244
22002244          $$000000''ss 22002233          $$000000''ss

         -100bps          +100bps          -100bps          +100bps

  IInntteerreesstt  RRaattee  RRiisskk Surplus
Other 
Equity Surplus

Other 
Equity Surplus

Other 
Equity Surplus

Other 
Equity

      FFiinnaanncciiaall  AAsssseettss
   Cash & cash equivalents (67)              67                (41)               41                
   Other financial assets1 289             (289)           276             (276)            
   Other financial assets2 117             (117)            89            (89)               
   Derivatives3 (833)           1,322          (1,128)         1,258          

      FFiinnaanncciiaall  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess
   Variable rate Borrowings 626             (626)           517              (517)             
   Interest rate Derivatives3 (572)            22               (188)            -                  

Total Sensitivity (558)           117             497             (117)            (563)           89            506             (89)               

  FFoorreeiiggnn  EExxcchhaannggee  RRiisskk      Minimal - foreign exchange transactions are limited to some library book purchases.
  EEqquuiittyy  PPrriiccee  RRiisskk      Nil - there are no listed shares within financial assets.
      1. Financial assets whose fair value change is shown through Surplus/(Deficit)
      2. Financial assets whose fair value change is shown through Comprehensive Revenue & Expense
      3. Derivatives (interest rate swaps) fair value change is shown through Surplus/(Deficit) (not hedge accounted)

Sensitivity analysis
The table below illustrates the potential effect on the surplus or deficit and equity (excluding 
accumulated funds) for reasonably possible market movements, with all other variables held 
constant, based on the Council’s financial instrument exposures at balance date.
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Capital management
The Council’s capital is its equity (or ratepayers’ funds), which comprise retained earnings, 
revaluation reserves and special funds and reserves. Equity is represented by net assets.

The Local Government Act 2002 [the Act] requires the Council to manage its revenues, 
expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings prudently and in a 
manner that promotes the current and future interests of the community. Ratepayer’s funds 
are largely managed as a by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments, and general financial dealings.

The objective of managing these items is to achieve intergenerational equity, which is a 
principle promoted in the Act and applied by the Council. Intergenerational equity requires 
today’s ratepayers to meet the costs of utilising the Council’s assets and not expecting them 
to meet the full cost of long-term assets that will benefit ratepayers in future generations. 
Additionally, the Council has in place asset management plans for major classes of assets 
detailing renewal and maintenance programmes, to ensure ratepayers in future generations are 
not required to meet the costs of deferred renewals and maintenance.

The Act requires the Council to make adequate and effective provision in its Long-Term Plan 
(LTP) and in its annual plan (where applicable) to meet the expenditure needs identified in 
those plans. And the Act sets out the factors that the Council is required to consider when 
determining the most appropriate sources of funding for each of its activities. The sources and 
levels of funding are set out in the funding and financial policies in the Council’s LTP.

The council has the following types of Council-created Special Funds and Reserves:

	y Reserves representing accumulating asset replacement provisions

	y Reserves representing developer contributions towards assets and infrastructure

	y General purpose reserves originating from asset sales and carried forward funding

	y Restricted reserves intended for special purpose assets or originating from a bequest.

Reserves for asset replacement are used where there is a discrete asset for which renewal or 
replacement expenditure is required to be met over and above annual revenue.

Developer contributions taken under the District Plan are held in reserves and applied to asset 
development projects, giving effect to the intent of the District Plan, to help fund the impacts of 
growth.

Interest is added to reserve fund balances as per the Council policy of protecting the reserve 
funds against inflation while maximising the interest return for use on Council development 
projects. Full interest is allocated to bequest and special purpose asset reserves. Deductions 
from reserves are made based on Council’s Annual Plan decisions on the funding source for a 
range of expenditure.
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Note 28: Purpose and application of special funds and reserves

Plant and equipment depreciation funds
These funds are built up from depreciation on plant and equipment and are used to fund 
replacements.

General capital reserves
These funds have been set aside from the sale of assets, the most significant of which was the 
sale of Wairarapa Electricity shares in 1996. Forestry sale proceeds are added to this reserve. 
Funds can be utilised for new asset purchases and to fund one-off Council projects and grants.

Investment interest fund
These funds are generated by receiving the proceeds of interest earnings on investments, 
after allocating interest at the rate of inflation to all other special funds balances. The funds are 
applied to offset debt servicing costs on specific projects including the CBD upgrade, Chapel 
Street stormwater line and Castlepoint seawall.

Reserves and development funds
These funds represent reserves and development contributions that are generated from the 
District Plan provisions for financial contributions on development and subdivision. The funds 
can only be applied to the purpose for which they were taken, i.e. development of assets on 
reserves and general district development.

Buildings depreciation funds
The Council has a series of specific depreciation reserve accounts for assets such as Senior 
Housing, the District Building, Trust House Recreation Centre and parks and reserves buildings. 
Depreciation funds on these assets are accumulated in these funds and used for renewal 
expenditure as required.

Roading, bridges and flood damage funds
Most roading renewal expenditure is funded from rates and NZTA subsidies, but some funding 
for the Council’s share of bridge renewals and street furniture is being built up in this fund. 
Roading contributions taken as per the District Plan financial contributions are accumulated in 
this fund and a separate fund for responding to road flood damage is also part of this group. 
Use of these funds can be for roading and bridge renewals, upgrades and flood damage.

Urban infrastructure depreciation funds
Depreciation on urban infrastructural assets is accumulated in this fund and applied to renewal 
of those assets. Infrastructure contributions taken as per the District Plan financial contributions 
are accumulated in this fund and utilised on renewing and upgrading the network assets.

Miscellaneous funds
These funds are made up of surpluses and deficits of various distinct entities under the 
Council’s control. Separate balances are maintained for a number of rural water and sewerage 
supplies and Dog Control carry forward surpluses. A separate Special Funds account 
represents a balance of funds carried forward. They are generally rated for specific items, but 
not spent. The sums are identified at year end and carried forward so they can be applied to 
the expenditure for which they were raised. The Council has also utilised or borrowed from 
these funds to advance projects and repay back to the fund, e.g. the Wairarapa Combined 
District Plan project.
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Notes to the Accounts            Note 32

COMMITMENTS 
As at  30 June 2024
This statement provides information about the funds that the Council is committed to spending on major 
contracts and projects and discloses information on contingent liabilities. 

 Capital Commitments 2024 2024 2023
Activity No. Of Contracts     $     $
Roading 12 1,948,248 5,641,442
Water Services 4 1,597,832 1,584,429
Wastewater Services 5 401,408 1,392,177
Community Facilities - construction 5 3,917,447 0

26 7,864,935 8,618,049

Capital commitments represent capital expenditure contracted for at balance date, but not yet incurred. 
There are 26 significant construction contracts in progress at 30 June 2024 (2023 = 24). These were:

*

*

*

*

 Contract Commitments 
There were a number of professional and maintenance contract commitments in operation at 30 June 2024.

Professional services contract commitments have been made for wastewater, roading, legal and community
facilities. These are invoiced based on scheduled rates or on an hourly basis.
Maintenance contract commitments have been made for roading, services, parks, and solid waste. 
In addition, there are facilities management contract commitments for the Recreation Centre and Mawley Park.

 Operating Lease Commitments (as a lessee)

Future aggregate minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
2024 2023

Not later than one year 230,931 228,006
Later than one year and not later than five years 211,742 437,555
Later than five years 0 0
Total Non-cancellable operating leases $442,673 $665,561
There are no restrictions placed on the Council by any of the leasing arrangements.

 Operating Lease Commitments (as a lessor)

2024 2023
Not later than one year 471,796 476,181
Later than one year and not later than five years 713,066 553,198
Later than five years 663,970 407,941
Total non-cancellable operating leases $1,848,832 $1,437,321        

A number of leases are in the process of being renewed or are on year by year renewals. These future aggregate 
minimum lease payments to be collected under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Roading contracts in progress at 30 June 2024 include Gordon St and Kitchener St, and emergency slip repairs relating 
to the Cyclone Gabrielle extreme weather event, Masterton-Castlepoint retaining wall and Blairlogie Langdale retaining 
wall.  Some $399,749 was incurred in 2023/24 but not shown in creditors as it missed being claimed for NZTA subsidy 
and has been expensed and claimed in 2024/25.
Five wastewater reticulation renewal contracts were committed but not complete. These were Waltons Avenue, Sussex 
Street, Bolton Road, Colombo Road & Herbert Street and Taranaki Street.

Four water reticulation contracts were commited but not complete.  These relate to work on Cornwall Street, Worksop 
Road, Betts Avenue & Madden Place and Opaki Road.

There are a number of construction contracts either let or under way for the Hood Aerodrome and Youth Hub Skatepark.

Council leases property in the normal course of its business. The main Council customer service centre at 161 Queen 
Street lease was renewed in July 2021 for a term of five years. The Archive lease on 3 Albert Street was started April 
2022 for three years. 

In the course of it's business Council has a number of leases in place.  Residential tenancies are not included as they 
have two weeks to one month notice periods. The non-cancellable leases include 24 for grazing, (2023 = 20), 15 
sporting groups, including a mix of ground and building rentals (2023 = 15), 30 Airport sites (2023 = 31) and 13 other 
properties (2023 =  15). 45 of these leases expire in the next 12 months (2023 = 47), 5 within five years (2023 = 16) and 
27 have a term greater than five years (2023 = 18).
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Notes to the Accounts         Note 33 
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES and CONTINGENT ASSETS
As at  30 June 2024

 Contingent Liabilities
1. Town Hall & District Building - Earthquake Prone Impairment

2. Contaminated Sites

3. Local Government Funding Agency (LGFA) Guarantee

4. Liability challenges and insurance

5. Ongoing obligation relating to New Zealand Mutual Liability Riskpool scheme

Listed below are six (6) contingent liabilities and two (2) contingent assets (last year 5 & 1).

The likelihood of any call, in respect of historical claims diminishes with each year as limitation periods expire. 
However, as a result of the Supreme Court decision on 1 August 2023 in Napier City Council v Local Government 
Mutual Funds Trustee Limited, it has been clarified that Riskpool has potential liabilities for members' claims in 
relation to non-weathertight defects (in a mixed claim involving both weathertight and non-weathertight defects). 
Riskpool has advised that it is working through the implications of the Supreme Court decision. At this point any 
potential liability is unable to be quantified.

Comprehensive assessments of the earthquake rating of the Town Hall & District Building were received from a 
qualified structural engineer during 2016 and as a result of being below code, the older parts of the buildings were 
closed to the public and Council staff were relocated to alternate premises. A written report which provided 
remediation and strengthening options has been received and costed and considered uneconomic. By 30 June 2024 
the Council had consulted a number of times (via it's Annual Plans and LTPs) on different options for the future of the 
buildings and future civic facilities.  The 2024-34 LTP consulted on revised options and resulted in the Council 
deciding to demolish the buildings and construct a new town hall on the existing site.  Demolition costs are allowed 
for in the project costs.  The Council's main administration building is now Waiata House and the old buildings now 
are fully non-operational.  A write-down to their impaired value was recognised in 2016/17.

The Council is aware of the existence of two sites within the Masterton urban boundary, still owned by the Council, 
which have some level of contamination as a result of the operation of former gas works.  The Council is meeting its 
obligations with respect to disclosure about these sites pursuant to the Resource Management Act and has 
commissioned studies into the levels of contamination and continues to undertake monitoring as required.

As stated in Note 23 (Provisions) and Note 26a (Financial Instrument Risks), the Council is a shareholding guarantor of 
the LGFA which has a credit rating of AAA. The Council holds $0.1m value of shares and $0.1m uncalled capital. That 
brings with it obligations in terms of the guarantee liability which has been disclosed in these Notes. The Council has 
been unable to determine a sufficiently reliable and fair value for the guarantee and therefore has not recognised a 
liability or contingency value.

As reported in previous Annual Reports the Council has been party to a number of legal proceedings related to it's 
role in building consenting processes. Settlements have been reached in all but one case, and that one proceeding 
remains 'live' in terms of a court process. There is no indication of the case's defence being successful or otherwise, 
so no financial provision has been made.      
The Wairarapa Hospital claim (progressed to trial by Te Whatu Ora) was the subject of a four week High Court trial in 
August 2023. The parties have subsequently settled before judgement was issued, with Council's liability insurers 
being involved in the decision making aspects of the confidential settlement.

Masterton District Council was previously a member of the New Zealand Mutual Liability Riskpool scheme 
(‘Riskpool’). The Scheme is in wind down; however, the Council has an ongoing obligation to contribute to the 
scheme should a call be made in respect of any historical claims (to the extent those claims are not covered by 
reinsurance), and to fund the ongoing operation of the scheme. 



 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 
4 DECEMBER 2024 

 

Item 5.1 - Attachment 1 Page 160 

  

155

Notes to the Accounts   Note 33 contd

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES and CONTINGENT ASSETS
As at  30 June 2024

6. FOSAL buy-out obligations

Contingent Assets 
1.

2.

There were no other contingent assets.

The Council has settled all claims brought against it by Masterton Trust Lands Trust with respect to structural issues 
they disputed with an engineering design company. The Council's insurers have reserved their decision with respect 
to accepting cover for one of the claims.  A decision on the matter is subject to a legal decision of the Court of Appeal 
on a separate case, but one with similar facts to MDC's - ie weathertight issues were also challenged and insurance 
cover has been reserved.  In the Council's view, the legal and settlement costs remain receivable from the insurers.  
There has been a decision by the Court of Appeal (in August 2023) in favour of the Council involved, which points to 
the potential for claiming legal and settlement costs back from insurers.  Contact has been made with the insurers 
and they have acknowledged the potential that the Council's circumstances may justify an insurance recovery.  The 
legal processes are being worked through and the sums have yet to be determined so remain a contingent asset.  

There have been detailed assessments of insurance positions and valuation processes in order to establish the value 
of compensation which will be offered. As at 30 June 2024 no buy-out offers had been made.  The transactions 
involved (asset purchases) have been budgeted in 2024/25, with Council's share of the buy-out cost intended to be 
loan-funded.  Actual amounts remain contingent on valuations being agreed and sale and purchase agreements 
being signed. Another factor of uncertainty is that relocation options are available for some of the properties and the 
costs of those will be fully Government funded up to the maximum contribution limit.  The first settlements are 
expected in November 2024.

Masterton District Council has signed an agreement with the Cyclone Response Unit of Government to participate in 
the FOSAL scheme (Future Of Severely Affected Locations). This involves the voluntary buy-out or relocation of flood 
affected properties in the Tinui area (from Cyclones Hale and Gabrielle) that have been assessed as being a risk to life 
from future floodng (category 3). Nine properties with twelve dwellings have been identified as eligible for the 
scheme and the value committed is $5m, split 50/50 between the Government and Council.  

As part of the FOSAL scheme (as described above) the Council will be receiving, from central government, 50% of the 
cost of the category 3 flood affected properties. The agreement allows for up to $2.5 million that Council could 
receive to assist those severely affected property owners in the Tinui area.  Until each negotiation is concluded, the 
amount of funding receivable remains uncertain and is disclosed here as a contingent asset. 
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     Note 34

POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS

Late adoption of Annual Report

  * Stage 2 - enacting the Local Government (Water ServicesPreliminary Arrangements) Act 2024 (the Act) which 
received Royal Ascent on 2nd September 2024; and
  * Stage 3 - implementing further legislative change (expected to be introduced in December 2024 to be passed by 
mid 2025).

The Council has been working with other councils in the Greater Wellington region along with the Horowhenua District 
to assess whether a regional water entity can be put forward as the basis of the WSDP. The 10 councils committed to 
the investigation process and financial modelling work has been presented to the group. Masterton is also working 
with the other two Wairarapa councils and Tararua District to assess options for a smaller regional delivery model 
involving the three or four council areas. The Council is required to formally consult the community on aspects of a 
proposed model and arrangements for delivering water services, including a status quo option. The reforms to date 
have had no effect on the financial statements or performance information for the year to 30 June 2024. 

     2. is financially sustainable;
     3. ensures compliance with drinking water standards; and
     4. supports the council's housing growth and urban development objectives.

The following events after balance date are material to the financial statements:

Water services reform programme 
In December 2023, the Government announced a new direction for water services (drinking water, wastewater and 
stormwater services) policy and legislation which it has called Local Water Done Well. This is being implemented in 3 
stages namely:        
  * Stage 1 - repealing the previous affordable water reforms(completed in February 2024);   

As described in Note 33 Contingent Liabilities, the Council has an obligation under the FOSAL scheme to progress the 
buy-out of flood-affected properties in the Tinui area. Between 30 June 2024 and the adoption date of this report, one 
property purchase has been completed and two more have sale & purchase agreements signed for settlement in 
December 2024 and January 2025. The Council's share of those purchases is approximately $575,000.    

The Council acknowledges that this Annual Report for the year to 30 June 2024 has not been adopted by the statutory 
date required by section 98(3) of the Local Government Act 2002, ie 31 October 2024. This was due to a combination 
of limited finance staff capacity and competing priorities for those staff, such the Local Waters Done Well (LWDW) 
processes. 

The Act requires the Council to submit a Water Services Delivery Plan (WSDP) to the Secretary of Local Government, by 
September 2025. In broad terms, a WSDP must identify the current state of the Council’s water services and show how 
the Council will deliver those services in a way that:
     1. meets relevant regulatory quality standards for stormwater, wastewater and water supply networks

FOSAL Buy-out Process

 Up until the adoption date of the Annual Report the following Councils have indicated they will not be part of the 
Wellington Regional Entity: Carterton District, South Wairarapa District, Horowhenua District and Kapiti Coast District.  
Masterton's Councillors have voted to retain the option of joining the Wellington regional entity so that it can be 
consulted on with the community in April 2025, alongside the Wairarapa plus Tararua (Wai + T) option and an 
enhanced status quo.
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HE AROTAKE PŪTEA ME TE TŪTOHU TURE
AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE 

Statement of Compliance and Responsibility
Compliance
The Council and management of the Masterton District Council confirm that all the statutory 
requirements in relation with the Annual Report have been complied in accordance with Clause 
34 of Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002, with the exception of the late adoption of 
the annual report as disclosed in Note 34.

The Council and management of Masterton District Council certify that all the statutory 
requirements of the Local Government Act 2002, including the Local Government (Financial 
Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014, regarding financial management and borrowing 
have been complied with.

The service performance information has been prepared in accordance with the Public Benefit 
Entity Financial Reporting Standard 48 Service Performance Reporting.

Responsibility
The Council and management of Masterton District Council accept responsibility for the 
preparation of the annual Financial Statements, Statements of Service Performance, reporting 
as per the regulations and the judgements used in them.

The Council and management of Masterton District Council accept responsibility for 
establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, the statements of service 
performance and reporting as per the regulations.

In the opinion of the Council and management of Masterton District Council, the annual 
Financial Statements, Statements of Service Performance and reporting as per the regulations 
for the year ended 30 June 2024 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of Masterton 
District Council.

Gary Caffell 
Mayor

Date: 4 December 2024

Kym Fell 
Chief Executive

David Paris 
Manager Finance
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the readers of Masterton District Council’s Annual Report for the year ended  
30 June 2023

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Masterton District Council (the District Council). The 
Auditor-General hasappointed me, Karen Young, using the staff and resources of Audit New 
Zealand, to report on the informationin the District Council’s annual report that we are required 
to audit under the Local Government Act 2002 (the Act). We refer to this information as “the 
audited information” in our report.

We are also required to report on:

	y whether the District Council has complied with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Act 
that apply to theannual report; and

	y the completeness and accuracy of the District Council’s disclosures about its performance 
against benchmarksthat are required by the Local Government (Financial Reporting and 
Prudence) Regulations 2014.

We refer to this information as “the disclosure requirements” in our report.

We completed our work on 29 November 2023. This is the date on which we give our report.

Opinion on the audited information 

In our opinion:

	y the financial statements on pages 97 to 152:

	- present fairly, in all material respects:

	- the District Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2023;

	- the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date; and

	- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with 
Public Benefit Entity Reporting Standards;

	y the funding impact statement on page 87, presents fairly, in all material respects, the amount 
of fundsproduced from each source of funding and how the funds were applied as compared  
to the information included in the District Council’s annual plan;

	y the statements of service performance on pages 19 to 80 & 88:

	- presents fairly, in all material respects, the District Council’s levels of service for each group 
of activities for the year ended 30 June 2023, including:

	- the levels of service achieved compared with the intended levels of service and whether 
any intended changes to levels of service were achieved;

	- the reasons for any significant variation between the levels of service achieved and the 
intended levels of service; and

	- complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
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	y the statement about capital expenditure for each group of activities on pages 89 to 96, 
presents fairly, in all material respects, actual capital expenditure as compared to the 
budgeted capital expenditure included in the District Council’s long-term plan; and

	y the funding impact statement for each group of activities on pages 89 to 96, presents fairly, 
in all material respects, the amount of funds produced from each source of funding and how 
the funds were applied as compared to the information included in the District Council’s long-
term plan.

Report on the disclosure requirements

We report that the District Council has:

	y complied with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Act that apply to the annual report; and

	ymade the disclosures about performance against benchmarks as required by the Local 
Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014 on pages 82 to 86, which 
represent a complete list of required disclosures and accurately reflects the information 
drawn from the District Council’s audited information and, where applicable, the District 
Council’s long-term plan.

Emphasis of matter – uncertainty over the Water Services Reform Programme 

Without further modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 34 on page 152 which outlines 
developments in the Government’s water services reform programme.

The Water Services Entities Act 2022, as amended by the Water Services Entities Amendment 
Act 2023 on 23 August 2023 and the Water Services Legislation Act 2023 on 31 August 
2023, establishes ten publicly owned water services entities to carry out responsibilities for 
the delivery of three waters services and related assets and liabilities currently controlled by 
local authorities. Water services entities’ establishment dates are staggered, with all the water 
services entities becoming operational between 1 July 2024 and 1 July 2026. The financial 
impact of the water services reform on the District Council as outlined in Note 34 remains 
uncertain until the relevant water services entity’s establishment date is known, and the 
allocation schedule of assets, liabilities, and other matters to be transferred is approved.

In addition, there is uncertainty around the water services reform legislation. With the change in 
government, it may be repealed or substantially amended.

Basis for our opinion on the audited information

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing 
(New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. We 
describe our responsibilities under those standards further in the “Responsibilities of the 
auditor for the audited information” section of this report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing 
Standards.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion on the audited information.
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Responsibilities of the Council for the audited information

The Council is responsible for meeting all legal requirements that apply to its annual report.

The Council’s responsibilities arise under the Local Government Act 2002 and the Local 
Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014.

The Council is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it to 
prepare the information we audit that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the information we audit the Council is responsible for assessing its ability to 
continue as a going concern. The Council is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless there 
is an intention to amalgamate or cease all of the functions of the District Council or there is no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audited information

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the audited information, as 
a whole, is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit 
report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
carried out in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts 
or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions 
of readers taken on the basis of this audited information.

For the budget information reported in the audited information, our procedures were limited to 
checking that the budget information agreed to the District Council’s long-term plan.

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited 
information.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. Also:

	yWe identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the audited information, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

	yWe obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the District Council’s internal control.

	yWe evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Council.

	yWe determine the appropriateness of the reported intended levels of service in the statement 
of service performance, as a reasonable basis for assessing the levels of service achieved 
and reported by the District Council.

	yWe conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting 
by the Council and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast a significant doubt on the District Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our audit report to the related disclosures in the audited 
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information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audit report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the District Council to cease to continue as a going concern.

	yWe evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the audited information, 
including the disclosures, and whether the audited information represents, where applicable, 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

	yWe communicate with the Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other information

The Council is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises the information included on pages 2 to 153 but does not include the 
audited information and the disclosure requirements.

Our opinion on the audited information and our report on the disclosure requirements do not 
cover the other information.

Our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the audited information and the disclosure 
requirements, or our knowledge obtained during our work, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

Independence

We are independent of the District Council in accordance with the independence requirements 
of the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence 
requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance 
Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

In addition to our audit of the audited information and our report on the disclosure 
requirements, we perform a limited assurance engagement related to the District Council’s 
Debenture Trust Deed. Other than these engagements, we have no relationship with, or 
interests in, the District Council.

.........................................................

Karen Young 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 
19 December 2023
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Phone
06 370 6300 - 8am to 5pm except Tuesdays 9am to 5pm

06 378 7752 after hours

Email
mdc@mstn.govt.nz

Call into
Masterton District Council

161 Queen Street, Masterton
9am - 4pm

Write to
Masterton District Council

PO Box 444, Masterton 5840
www.mstn.govt.nz
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